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In line with our strategy, the beneficiaries 
of the University – students, business 
and the professions, and our region 
– have been at the forefront of our 
response to Covid-19, as their future 
success is critical to us, and we have 
continued to serve them throughout 
this difficult period. 
 
We did, however, have much to celebrate 
within the University. We were named 
University of the Year 2020 by the 
Guardian newspaper, an accolade which 
reflected a number of the University’s 
attributes, of which I am extremely proud: 
our commitment to student retention, 
graduate outcomes and employment; our 
high quality, research-informed teaching; 
our engagement with the Race Equality 
Charter and commitment to reducing the 
BAME attainment gap; our contribution to 
the environment and sustainability; and 
our continued partnerships with regional 
businesses and stakeholders. We were  
also awarded THE’s (Times Higher 
Education) award for Outstanding 
Entrepreneurial University and our new 
Students’ Union building was named 
as winner of the Guardian’s award for 
‘Buildings that Inspire’.
 
Alongside these important honours, the 
day-to-day work of the University has 
been clearly-focused and purposeful. We 
enjoyed strong recruitment figures, despite 
the challenges and the continued need to 
adapt our teaching approach. The support 
we were able to offer our students to meet 
the changing requirements was well-
received and played an important part 
in our students’ well-being and ability to 
study during uncertain times.

Research has continued in many key 
areas for the University, though perhaps 
unsurprisingly, given the circumstances, 
we have seen a decline in the number and 
value of awards from last year’s record 
levels. This is not down to a decline in 
the dedication and excellence of our 
researchers, but is an understandable 
consequence of the challenges that are 
being faced as a result, both directly and 
indirectly, of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Our financial resilience has, however, 
enabled us to stand up to the challenges 
of the past year and we have been able to 
continue to invest in new and innovative 
approaches to study, work and research. 
Some of this has been born out of 
necessity, but many initiatives are a result 
of careful planning, creative thinking and a 
desire to be at the forefront of inspiring and 
dynamic working and teaching practices. 
 
I am looking forward to the year ahead, 
to the return of students to campus, to 
our reimagined approach to teaching, 
learning and research, and to our renewed 
commitment to our beneficiaries. 

Aston University’s  
financial resilience has, 
however, enabled us to 
stand up to the challenges 
of the past year.

The support we were 
able to offer our students 
to meet the changing 
requirements was well 
received and played an 
important part in our 
students’ well-being and 
ability to study during 
uncertain times.

“

“
”

”
Professor Alec Cameron
Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive
Aston University

Vice-Chancellor’s Foreword Mission, Vision and Values

Professional and ambitious 

We believe this is a prerequisite to realise  
our mission and vision, and will be 
recognised by businesses and external 
organisations as shared values which make 
Aston University an attractive partner for 
research and education. 

Innovative and collaborative 

We work across disciplines, institutions and 
partners to be proactive in creating and 
implementing new ideas, to be a leader 
in modern educational techniques and to 
undertake research which inspires staff, 
students and external partners. 

To be the UK’s leading university for 
students aspiring to succeed in business 
and the professions, where original research, 
enterprise and inspiring teaching deliver 
local and global impact.

Ethical and inclusive 

We recognise our responsibility to be an 
exemplar of behaviour and conduct in all 
that we do. We will leverage the diversity 
of our staff and student body to achieve 
outcomes for our beneficiaries and provide 
opportunities for education and professional 
development to all. 

In 2023 we will have an international 
reputation for delivery of outstanding 
graduate outcomes and equipping 
business and communities with the skills 
for future success.

Values

Mission Vision

This year has been another challenging year, both globally  
and for the University, as we have dealt with the impact of  
the Covid-19 pandemic.

3Aston UniversityFinancial Statements 2020/21Aston University2 Financial Statements 2020/21



RESPONDING TO COVID

Since the outbreak of coronavirus, the health and wellbeing of 
our students, staff and the wider community have been at the 
heart of all our decision-making.

In response to the pandemic and in line 
with government guidance, all our teaching 
and learning was moved online and staff 
and students were advised to work from 
home wherever possible. We worked 
closely with our Students’ Union to ensure 
that our students were kept informed and 
able to access advice, guidance and 
support. The University did not fully close 
due to our commitment to students who 
live on campus and the continuation of 
certain essential research activity. 

We introduced a comprehensive range of 
measures to help create and maintain a 
Covid-secure environment on campus to 
ensure a safe return for students, while 
trying to protect communities as much as 
possible. This included the establishment 
of an asymptomatic test centre on campus, 
staffed by our own students from the 
College of Health and Life Sciences.

Before staff and students returned to 
campus, we provided them with clear 
guidance about the measures in place, 
together with information about what they 
could do to prevent the spread of the virus.

We worked closely with the Director of 
Public Health in Birmingham, developed an 
early warning system for cases on campus 
and used tracking and tracing to help 
prevent any further spread of the virus. 

Covid-19 research efforts
The vast research excellence and expertise 
from across the West Midlands that has 
helped in the fight against coronavirus 
was highlighted in a report, Mobilising 
Research Excellence in the Midlands to 
Tackle Covid-19, published by Midlands 
Innovation in January 2021. 

Aston University research and activity 
during Covid-19 is cited in numerous parts 
of the report, including reference to an 
innovative device that was designed by 
engineers in the College of Engineering 
and Physical Sciences to stop patients 
accidentally spreading coronavirus to ear, 
nose and throat surgeons, and were rolled 
out free to NHS clinics across the UK (p20).

Other research from Aston Medical School 
looked at how Covid-19 disproportionately 
affects BAME people with recommendations 
made to Parliament (p23). Aston Business 
School research on how to support SME 
staff and enhance their productivity in the 
context of Covid-19 was included, as well 
as podcasts that were produced to support 
SMEs through the crisis (p28).

Reference for pages 20, 23 and 28:  
https://midlandsinnovation.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/
Resources/Midlands_Covid-19_Report.pdf

Student Emergency 
Hardship Fund
The short term Covid-19 Emergency 
Hardship appeal raised £50,726 towards 
a fund which helped 177 students. 

Helping to tackle 
tech poverty in 
Birmingham with the 
Titan Partnership
Aston University colleagues in the 
Admissions, Recruitment and Outreach 
office worked with the Titan Partnership 
to support the ‘Computers for Children 
campaign’. Together, the partnership raised 
almost £100,000 and provided computers 
to children, allowing them to complete their 
schoolwork from home.

Aston University Students’ Union opens doors 
to a food distribution centre
A food distribution service providing vital 
supplies to communities in need across 
Birmingham during the Covid-19 pandemic 
relocated to Aston University Students’ 
Union building while its doors were closed. 
Aston University had over 200 staff and 
student volunteers supporting local projects 
and helping to run the distribution centre.

The service, coordinated by The Active 
Wellbeing Society (TAWS), along with The 
Real Junk Food Project and supported by 
food charity FareShare and Birmingham 
City Council, was previously operating from 
Ladywood Community Centre.

As of 17 May 2020, 21,814 food parcels, 
6,836 cooked meals, 1,371 dedicated hours 
of phone support and 9,303 phone calls 
had been managed by #BrumTogether. The 
distribution centre also provided partners 
with 458 bulk food orders which also led to 
7,000 weekly food parcels.

24-hour access to security, 
support and safety via our 
SafeZone app.

21,814
food parcels were 
managed by #BrumTogether

£100K
raised by the partnership

177
students helped by the Hardship Fund

500
alumni and friends donated to 
Aston University during the  
Covid-19 year

Over
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

The overall aim of the University is set out in the 1966 Charter:
“to advance, disseminate and apply learning and knowledge by 
teaching and research for the benefit of industry and commerce  
and of the community generally and to enable students to obtain  
the advantage of a university education.”

The underlying strength of the University continues to 
remain strong in a year that has again been dominated 
by the global pandemic.

Public Benefit Statement
Aston University received its Royal Charter 
from Queen Elizabeth II on 22 April 1966 
and is an exempt charity under the terms of 
Charities Act 2011. 

The University is regulated by the Office 
for Students as the principal regulator of 
English higher education institutions in 
accordance with the section 4(5) of the 
Education and Research Act 2017. The 
members of Council are the trustees of the 
charity.

As a charity, the University is required to 
operate for the public benefit. In setting 
and reviewing the University’s strategy and 
activities, the Council has had due regard 
to the Charity Commission’s guidance on 
public benefit. 

Public benefit is embedded in the Aston 
Strategy 2018 to 2023 which is structured 
around understanding and meeting the 
needs of our major beneficiaries: students, 
external organisations (comprising 
businesses, public entities, the not-for-
profit sector, and the professions) and 
Birmingham and the West Midlands region. 

Our focus is on creating educational and 
ultimately employment opportunities for 
the students of our region, regardless of 
their background, with 95% of our students 
being state educated. The University 
undertakes extensive outreach work with 
local schools and colleges in order to 
encourage participation from all those with 
potential to benefit from higher education. 

Trade Union Facility Time
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication 
Requirements) Regulations 2017 require 
the University to disclose certain metrics 
detailing the provision of paid or unpaid 
time off from an employee’s normal role to 
undertake trade union duties and activities. 
The University had ten full time equivalent 
employees who spent 1 to 50% of their 
time on trade union duties and activities, 
of which no time was spent on paid trade 
union activity. This represents 0.08% of 
total pay bill (£85k of £101.7m).

The Future
The University continues to operate in a 
challenging environment. This includes 
dealing with the on-going impact of 
Covid-19, increasing competition nationally 
and globally, changes in government policy, 
the impact of pension scheme contributions 
and changing expectations of students with 
regards to teaching and learning.

Our focus remains on the outcomes for 
our three major beneficiaries and using our 
strengths to deliver these and consolidate 
our strong position in the sector.

Student recruitment growth will remain 
under pressure due to uncertainties around 
international travel and Brexit, although 
the UK demographic position will begin 
to improve in respect of the number of 18 
year-olds entering higher education. We 
will maintain our investment in our student 
experience and in a high quality learning 
environment. 

Our relationship with businesses, 
professions and the region remains strongly 
at the centre of what we do. We seek to 
further our links with businesses to ensure 
that we produce graduates with the skills 
they require to grow. 

We will continue to build our reputation 
for supporting students, through widening 
participation, to gain the benefits of 
degrees at Aston and social mobility which 
this experience will bring.

Our reputation for transformational research 
continues to grow and we continue to build 
on our excellent record of gaining grants 
to enhance the economy and improve the 
quality of life in the region and beyond. 

The underlying strength of the University 
continues to hold up in a year that 
has again been dominated by a global 
pandemic. Despite the challenging 
circumstances, the operating surplus 
before taxation was £9.5m. This was largely 
organic, driven by strong income growth. 
The underlying operating surplus, before 
pension liability movements of £2m, was 
£7.5m (4.3% of income), an increase of 
£4.4m from prior year. 

Cash increased by £14.2m in the year. 
Overall, and after cash payments of £14.2m 
in improving our estate and facilities, the 
University ended the year with a cash and 
investments balance of £86.7m. 

The University Group continues to maintain 
a healthy balance sheet with total net 
assets of £134.7m. As required under 
FRS102, our balance sheet includes 
provisions of £27.4m relating to the 
University’s share of the USS pension 
scheme deficit and the AUPS pension 
scheme. The University has long term bank 
loans outstanding of £43.1m.

Income
Income has increased by £7.3m (4.4%) to 
£172.5m. This is driven by growth in Tuition 
fees (£5.4m), Research income (£4.1m) 
and Funding Council income (£2.4m) which 
have offset the impact of the pandemic 
on the University’s Commercial services 
(a reduction of £4.7m). Tuition fee growth 
is underpinned by strong Home and EU 
growth (10.4%) which compensated for 
impact of the pandemic on overseas 
recruitment (-3.9%).

Costs
Costs excluding pension movements have 
increased by 1.7% to £165.1m driven by 
investment in resources in order to deliver 
exceptional teaching and research. There 
have been additional costs incurred in the 
year to ensure the University is Covid-
secure and to provide financial support to 
students impacted.

Aston continues to invest in its academic 
and research capacity in support of the 
delivery of its 2018 to 2023 Strategy. 
Underlying staff costs were stable at 
£101.7m.

Capital Expenditure
The University continues to invest in 
its infrastructure and estate in order to 
modernise and extend its facilities for high 
quality teaching and research with net 
expenditure of £14.2m during the year.

The University is reviewing its capital 
expenditure programme, and over the next 
couple of years this will primarily focus on 
investment in the digital infrastructure and 
agile student and staff spaces. 

Scope of the  
Financial Statements
The Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 July 2021 comprise the results of 
the University and its operating subsidiary, 
Conference Aston Limited. 

The Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP): Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education (2019). The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied 
is applicable law and UK Accounting 
Standards (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

 

Case Study -  
Sustainable Campus

The University has been 
successful in obtaining a 
government grant of £2.2 million 
to reduce its carbon emissions. 

The scheme supports 
the University in taking a 
‘whole building’ approach to 
decarbonising our estate and 
will be invested in a variety 
of carbon reduction projects 
including:

•  moving away from gas  
boilers to low carbon 
alternative technologies in 
its main building and Aston 
Business School;

•  replacing lights with LED 
technology in its Energy and 
Bioproducts Research Institute 
(EBRI) building, the university 
library and sports centre;

•  installing solar PV systems; 

•  installing smarter controls on 
ventilation systems; and

•  installing ‘free cooling’ 
systems in two of its IT data 
centres.

The projects are expected to 
save in the region of 2.2 million 
kWh annually, which will save 
around 430 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent.

Case Study -  
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure

As part of the University’s 
commitment to investment in 
digital infrastructure, it is key 
that students and staff have 
consistent, flexible access to 
specialist academic applications 
both on and off campus.

The University invested £1.9m in 
its Virtual Desktop Infrastructure 
(VDI) to allow the delivery of all 
teaching and learning through 
a ‘blended’ approach from 
September 2020. 

The use of a VDI environment 
will help address ‘Digital 
Inequality’ by allowing users 
with less robust IT equipment  
or connectivity to access 
teaching on-line without 
disadvantage. This is a critical 
element in maintaining student 
experience during these 
unprecedented times.
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THE YEAR IN NUMBERS

74 130% 300
of our students undertake a 
placement year or equivalent 
experience (2019/20)

student-led clubs
and societies 

employers who offer degree 
apprenticeships

Over Over Partner with over 

25 21
in the Guardian University 
Guide (2022)

in the UK for Career Prospect 
Outcomes (Complete 
University Guide, 2022)

Top Ranked 

1,000
degree apprentices studying 
with us, based at organisations 
across the UK

Over

st

20252nd th
largest median salary in the 
UK five years after graduation 
(Longitudinal Education 
Outcomes, 2021)

in the UK for Degree 
Continuation in the Guardian 
University Guide (2022)

2nd in England for impact on 
social mobility in HEPI Social 
Mobility Index (2021)

Our graduates achieved the Top 

AWARD-WINNING UNIVERSITY

Aston University received a number of national 
accolades in 2020/21, testament to the commitment 
and dedication of colleagues in delivering excellence, 
adding value and ensuring the long-term outcomes
for students remain at the forefront of whom we serve. 
This external recognition of our strategy and its delivery 
is reflected in the awards and this peer review.

Extract from The Guardian’s citation 

“Awarded for its work in eradicating the gap in grades 
between black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) 
students and their white peers, as well as its emphasis 
on sustainability.” 

“The award is calculated on the basis of several measures, 
including performance and improvement in the Guardian league 
tables; how well universities retain students who come from areas 
of low participation in higher education; and whether black, Asian 
and minority ethnic students do as well as their white peers. It’s 
unusual obligatory placement year is key to this strategy.”

“Their placement year has been shown to improve grades for 
students from disadvantaged backgrounds, as well as narrowing 
the gap in grades between BAME students and their white peers. 
It also reinforces the university’s emphasis on courses that lead to 
professions, including in business, engineering and health, which 
are especially popular with Aston’s students.” 

“Aston’s performance was strengthened by its rise up the Guardian 
league tables, which focus on the university activities that matter 
most to young people: quality of teaching, student satisfaction 
and employability. In recent years the university has prioritised 
hiring extra teaching staff, which has boosted its staff-to-student 
ratio score.” 

Top Ten Students’ Union
(What Uni Awards, 2020)

 ECU
 G

E
N

D
ER  C HA R T E R

%90
Degree Completion rate in  
the Times/Sunday Times Good 
University Guide (2022)

More than

World Top 100 for Business & 
Management in the QS World 

Subject Rankings (2021) 

18,272
students (13,328 undergraduate and 4,944 postgraduate)
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ACADEMIC  
HIGHLIGHTS

The engines of Aston University are three Academic Colleges, comprising
11 specialist Schools; blending business, health, science and technology  
expertise to drive research, innovation and engagement for our primary 
beneficiaries. This synopsis highlights some of the key achievements and 
developments from the 2020/21 academic year.

Small businesses hit by the pandemic 
to access support through government 
partnership with Aston Business School, 
published August 2020
Aston Business School is working with 
the Small Business Charter to deliver a 
specialised government funded programme 
for leaders of small businesses to survive 
and thrive in the coming months and post-
coronavirus. This new scheme, created and 
developed at the University, comes as part 
of a £20million package the government 
are providing to help small businesses in 
the long term. To aid business resilience 
and future growth in the current climate, 
the Small Business Leadership Programme 
will create peer groups to develop stronger 
leadership, innovation, operational 
efficiency, marketing and finance.

Support for entrepreneurs critical for 
post-Covid recovery – new GEM report, 
published September 2020
Presenting a snapshot of support measures 
introduced by 54 countries around the 
world since the Covid-19 outbreak, the 
Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) 
– whose UK team is led by Professor 
Mark Hart of Aston University – says 
entrepreneurs starting and growing their 
businesses will be key to a return to global 
growth. It has called on governments 
and enterprise agencies to prioritise clear 
communication and reduce red tape to help 
entrepreneurs take advantage of changes in 
technology and consumer behaviour since 
the start of the pandemic.

How pub-talk research is helping abuse 
victims tell their stories, published 
January 2021
Emma Richardson, research fellow in 
forensic linguistics at the Aston Institute for 
Forensic Linguistics, first became interested 
in ‘conversation analysis’ while researching 
how people behaved in pub settings. She 
has now used the same methodology to 
investigate how police interviewers can help 
victims of sexual assault to tell their stories, 
and how call handlers can assist those 
suffering domestic abuse.

Aston University welcomes arrival 
of Goldman Sachs to Birmingham, 
published April 2021
Aston University has had a 10-year 
relationship with Goldman Sachs and 
plays a key part in Goldman Sachs plans 
for development of the 10,000 Small 
Businesses programme which launched in 
the Midlands in 2011, benefitting hundreds 
of local entrepreneurs. Goldman Sachs said 
Birmingham offers a “number of unique 
advantages”, including its universities and 
local tech sector, while also being close 
enough to London to allow easy travel to 
the capital.

Aston University a key partner of EU-
funded projects awarded €7million to 
fight organised crime online payment 
fraud, published May 2021
Horizon 2020, the EU funding programme 
for research and innovation, has made the 
award to the TRACE project to tackle the 
issue of the detection and tracing of hidden 
and illicit money flows from organised 
crime networks. In TRACE, the partners will 
co-create with law enforcement agencies 
(LEAs), to develop highly innovative 
complex data management solutions 
alongside modular artificial intelligent 
analytics to enhance their capabilities 
in detecting, tracing, confiscating and 
recovering illicit money flows and generate 
court-proof e-evidence.

Irish eyes smiling as Brexit sees services 
trade switch from UK – new research, 
published June 2021
The UK’s departure from the European 
Union has seen more than £100 billion in 
services exports switch to Ireland, which 
experts have dubbed “the big winner from 
Brexit”. Researchers from Aston University 
in Birmingham said the shift had occurred 
in the wake of the 2016 referendum and 
had been accelerating ever since. By the 
start of 2020, on the eve of the Covid-19 
pandemic, the UK’s services exports had 
fallen in value by a total of £113 billion 
compared to trends before the vote, 
equivalent to nearly 10% of the UK’s entire 
services exports.

College of
Business and 
Social Sciences

Aston Business School
Aston Law School
School of Social Sciences and Humanities

ACADEMIC HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

10yrs

€7M

relationship with Goldman Sachs’ 
and plays a key part in their 10,000 
Small Businesses programme

to fight organised crime online 
payment fraud

Awarded
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College of
Health and 
Life Sciences

College of
Engineering and
Physical Sciences

Aston Medical School
Aston School of Pharmacy
School of Biosciences
School of Optometry
School of Psychology

School of Engineering and Technology
School of Informatics and Digital Engineeing
School of Infrastructure and Sustainable Engineering

Opportunities for STEM talent were 
promoted in a virtual event on the 
International Day of Women and Girls in 
Science, published February 2021
Aston University hosted a virtual event on 
International Day of Women and Girls in 
Science promoting opportunities offered 
at the Greater Birmingham and Solihull 
Institute of Technology (GBSIoT) to train 
for a career in STEM. The UK is facing 
a huge demand for STEM skills across 
all levels and the new GBSIoT will target 
under-represented learners, facilitating 
clear opportunities for progression from 
school to high-level occupations.

Construction underway on new Institute 
of Technology hub, published June 2021
Building work on a new state-of-the-art 
Institute of Technology (IoT) for Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull on Aston 
University’s campus in Birmingham 
city centre, is due to be completed by 
December 2021, ready to open in January 
2022. The unique project is designed 
to create a ‘powerhouse’ for advanced 
manufacturing and engineering and is a 
collaboration between further education 
providers, universities and employers for 
the region.

Aston University has undergone a 
£1.7million refurbishment of its 
laboratory facilities as part of an 
extensive campus redevelopment 
strategy, published March 2021
Most of the refurbishment focused on 
the concrete research labs, engineering 
workshop, new model shop, and 
refurbishment of the civils lab to facilitate 
new courses and ongoing research.
The refurbished spaces will enable the 
University to continue to deliver the highest 
quality teaching to all its students.

Aston University becomes Midlands 
Academy for F1 in Schools programme, 
published June 2021
Engineering experts from Aston University 
are supporting secondary school students 
in the West Midlands to give them the skills 
they need to take part in a multi-disciplinary 
educational experience based around 

Formula 1 motor racing. 
A dedicated academy was created for 
young people in the region to help change 
the perceptions of science, technology, 
engineering and maths.

Aston University awarded funding 
for cybersecurity adoption project, 
published on April 2021
Aston University has joined a study by 
researchers in the Systems Security 
Group (SSG) of Coventry University’s 
Institute for Future Transport and Cities 
(IFTC) to examine drivers of computer 
hardware security adoption among 
businesses and consumers. Dr Muhammad 
Azmat, lecturer in logistics and supply 
chain management in the College of 
Engineering and Physical Sciences, is a 
co-investigator on the project, aiming to 
promote commercial adoption of secure 
technology by identifying supply chain risks 
and understanding why businesses choose 
not to implement Cybersecurity. The 
research findings promise to shed light on 
technology manufacturers’ cybersecurity 
vulnerabilities, enabling them to better 
address security gaps in future designs.

Aston University team of bioenergy 
researchers set to launch free tool to 
calculate energy potential, published 
June 2021
A simple tool which allows users to easily 
calculate how much bioenergy they can 
produce from biomass was launched 
by researchers from the Energy and 
Biproducts Research Institute (EBRI) at 
Aston University. The easy-to-use tool, 
called the Bioenergy Mass-Energy Balance 
Model, allows the user to experiment 
virtually with different biomass materials 
in several industrial processes including 
cement production, tea production and 
food processing to understand the potential 
implementation.

Stem cell AI – ‘brain on a chip’ project 
aims to revolutionise computing power, 
published January 2021
Revolutionary Neu-ChiP project will see 
scientists use human brain stem cells on 
microchips to push the boundaries of 
artificial intelligence (AI). Harnessing the 
unrivalled power and adaptability of the 
human brain, the technology could 
supersede existing electronics and cut 
high energy use. The project has received 
€3.5million in European Commission 
funding in recognition of its game-changing 
potential.

Aston University partners with John 
Desmond Ltd to develop antimicrobial 
surfaces to prevent spread of infection, 
published June 2021
A leading London based architectural 
metalwork company, specialising in the 
design, fabrication and installation of 
bespoke metal products has entered a 
Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP) with 
Aston University. The aim is to develop 
antimicrobial coatings to reduce infection 
in high risk environments. 

Pathway programme to help 
disadvantaged young people study 
medicine highly commended in 2020 
Green Gown Awards, published 
March 2021
The Sir Doug Ellis Pathway to Healthcare 
was highly commended by judges for 
benefitting society. Judges commended the 
programme for engaging talented young 
people who would otherwise be lost to 
medicine. The programme has engaged 
over 2,000 young people since it started 
in 2016.

Over 2,850 people supported by eye 
health education and vision screening 
delivered by Villa Vision, published 
July 2021
The Villa Vision initiative is raising 
awareness of the importance of eye health 
to children in schools and individuals in 
local community setting. This is a project 
between the Aston Villa Foundation, Aston 
University’s Optometry School and optical 
lens supplier, Essilor Vision for Life.

Aston researchers lead the way in 
creating VR training for university 
students, published November 2020
Birmingham start-up FourPlus, with 
partners Holosphere and Aston University, 
have been awarded funding from Innovate 
UK to create and test a virtual reality (VR) 
training platform for university life science 
students. The grant, awarded as part of 
£134 million government investment in 
green and innovative companies from 
Innovate UK’s Sustainable Innovation Fund, 
will help to deliver hands-on laboratory 
training in VR that can be delivered 
remotely, even in the students’ living room. 
This will help to ensure that life science 
students can learn important practical skills 
that are needed for future careers even in 
cases where they are unable to enter a 
physical lab.
 
Clinical trials to combat short 
sightedness in children underway 
at Aston University, published September 
2021
The myopia research team are recruiting 
200 children to take part in three trials 
and Aston University partner with industry 
including CooperVision on a range of 
interventions. Clinical trials to treat myopia 
– or short sightedness – in children are 
now underway. They are being conducted 
by researchers from Aston University in 
partnership with industry and in 
collaboration with the Universities of 
Queens, Ulster, Glasgow Caledonian, 
Anglia Ruskin, Waterloo and TU Dublin, 
with one of the trials funded by the National 
Institute for Health Research (NIHR).

ACADEMIC HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) ACADEMIC HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

£1.7M 2,000

Aston University becomes 
Midlands Academy for F1 in 
Schools programme

refurbishment of its
laboratory facilities

disadvantaged young people 
were engaged by the Pathway 
programme since 2016

Over

2,800
school children supported by 
eye health education and vision 
screening delivered by Villa Vision

More than
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Graduates of Aston University 
are among the highest paid 
in the country five years 
after graduating. The 2021 
Longitudinal Education 
Outcomes (LEO) data 
shows that employed Aston 
University graduates have 
the 20th largest median 
salary overall five years 
after graduation at £33,400, 
compared with £24,900  
sector average.

£37K
Graduates from allied health subjects 
at Aston University had the fifth-largest 
median salary five years after graduation 
at £37,200, which is over £11,000 more 
than the sector average.

This also includes a wide range of Degree 
Apprenticeships, Continuing Professional 
Development (CPD) and our online courses, 
delivered through Aston Online. Our ability 
to compete for high quality students is a 
key foundation of our overall performance 
and providing a stable financial foundation.

We are an internationally engaged 
University, both inbound and outbound, for 
partners, research, student recruitment and 
placements. In recruitment terms, we work 
across the primary markets of Asia, Middle 
East and Africa. Our strategy is focused
on diversifying our reach and attraction to 
ensure that our projected income and 
student population is steadily balanced.

The diversity of Aston University is unique 
and exciting, with students and staff from 
all over the world. This year, approximately 
10% of Aston’s undergraduate students 
and 70% of postgraduate students will 
come from outside the UK and EU.

Aston University launches new 
international pathway centre,
November 2020
Aston University has launched a new 
partnership with Cambridge Education 
Group’s ONCAMPUS to create an 
embedded international pathway centre. 

The new centre will help hundreds of 
international students every year to gain 
access to a university degree, by 
developing their academic research and 
writing skills, introducing them to the 
foundations of their subjects and improving 
their English language proficiency.

The partnership represents our long term 
commitment to diversifying our international 
student base.

RECRUITMENT DIVERSIFICATION

The University works hard to attract students across 
the UK and internationally for undergraduate, 
postgraduate and professional programmes of study.

1,000
degree apprentices studying 
with us, based at organisations 
across the UK

Over

18,272
students

13,328 undergraduate
4,944 postgraduate
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EMPLOYABLE GRADUATES GLOBAL ALUMNI NETWORKS

The success and achievement of a university is perhaps best evidenced by the 
employability, earnings and impact of its graduates – both in creating work-ready 
graduates who make real economic impact and adding significant value in a 
societal sense by improving social mobility. We are renowned for performing on 
both measures.

We have a global network of more than 100,000 alumni in over 100 
countries. Our alumni community connects us with their businesses, enhances 
our reputation and provides opportunities for current students.

•  The 2021 Longitudinal Education 
Outcomes (LEO) data shows that 
employed Aston University graduates 
have the 20th largest median salary 
overall, five years after graduation at 
£33,400, compared with £24,900  
sector average.

•  Subject level data in the LEO reveals 
that graduates from allied health subjects 
at Aston University had the fifth largest 
median salary five years after graduation 
at £37,200, which is over £11,000 more 
than the sector average. (LEO, 2021)

•  Over 1,500 degree apprentices are 
on-programme at the University with 
companies including CapGemini, 
Microsoft, the BBC, and Babcock. Our 
degree apprenticeships offer a positive 
contribution to the development of a 
company, aiding new recruitment and 
boosting existing employees skills.

•  Our award winning Careers and 
Placements team offers a wide range 
of employability support to students 
throughout their time at Aston University 
and for three years after graduation.

Employability and 
entrepreneurship
•  Placements, pre-registration 

years and, work and study abroad 
opportunities feature across all 
our undergraduate programmes. 

•   Announced as the winner of the 
Times Higher Education’s (THE) 2020 
Outstanding Entrepreneurial University 
in recognition of our support for student 
entrepreneurship, small businesses, and 
the West Midlands region.

Aston University rated 2nd 
in England for significant 
contribution made to social 
mobility for its students.
•  Designing an English Social Mobility 

Index by HEPI (the Higher Education 
Policy Institute) proposes a ranking  
of universities’ impact on social  
mobility and offers a methodology for  
comparing the contribution of individual 
English higher education providers to 
social mobility.

83%
of positive destinations against 
sector average of 78% in the 
Guardian University Guide (2022)

2nd
in England for significant 
contribution made to social 
mobility for its students  
(HEPI Social Mobility Index, 2021)

Rated

Our alumni have established 
communities across the world, including 
in the United States of America, 
Shanghai, Beijing, Hong Kong, New 
Delhi, Malaysia and Nigeria, and these 
groups maintain an active connection 
with the University. 

This professional network is supported by  
a dedicated team at Aston University 
through the activities of teaching, research 
staff and our local international colleagues. 
Aston alumni are generous with their 
industry knowledge and professional 
connections in order to support the 
University and our beneficiaries.

Hundreds of students benefit from 
alumni mentors and advice through the 
Professional Alumni Link platform, and 
placement and graduate jobs sourced 
through alumni networks. Our alumni create 
opportunities for Aston University to work 

with their businesses through KTPs, degree 
apprenticeships and research partnerships, 
and give philanthropic gifts to support our 
research and enable students to overcome 
financial barriers.

The University is embarking on developing 
and implementing its new alumni strategy, 
‘Aston For Life’ during 2021–22. Personal 
and professional development for life 
is at the heart of the strategy, and we 
will provide a tailored, tech-driven, 
development programme which supports 
the long-term career aims of our graduates.

1. Liyuan Li – MBA, 2011

2.  Dr Matthew Crummack – BSc International  
Business and French, 1993; DSc 2016 (H.C.)

3.  Kayisha Payne – MEng Chemical    
Engineering, 2016

4.  Dr Charles Li – PhD Strategic    
Management, 1991

5.  Dr Olayemi Cardoso – BSc Managerial and   
Administrative Studies, 1980; DBA 2017 (H.C.)

6. Professor Rooney Anand – MBA 1990; 
 DBA 2016 (H.C.)

1 2

5 64

3

Winners of Best University 
Careers/Employability Service 
(National Undergraduate 
Employability Awards 2020)

Best Careers/
Employability 

Narce Media founders, Connor Watt (BSc Business, Computing and IT) and Joe Housley 
(BSc Business and Politics)
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A GROWING RESEARCH PROFILE KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE

Our Research and Knowledge Exchange (RKE) brings together the worlds of 
business, public, private and third sectors with academia in a way that increases 
engagement and allows everyone to benefit from the power of new ideas.

Knowledge Exchange Framework

We performed well in the UK’s first Knowledge Exchange Framework 
(KEF) 2021, which placed us in the top 20% for working with 
business and supporting local growth and regeneration, top 30% for 
IP and commercialisation and top 40% for research partnerships.

Research headlines

•  In 2018-19 and 2019-20, we secured successive years of record research 
awards. Our awards doubled from £15m (2013-14) to £30m (2019-20).  
2020-21 was a much more challenging year, reflecting the challenges posed 
by the pandemic both to external funders and the time available to our 
academic staff to write new bids. 

•  The RKE team submitted 36 case studies to REF2021; the results for this  
are expected around Easter 2022. 

•  Seven Aston University academics have been appointed to REF2021  
subject panels by Research England, the most appointments that the 
University has achieved.

The Aston Institute for Photonic Technologies 
(AIPT) is one of the largest photonics 
reserach centres in the UK, with over 90 
members of staff and current grant funding 
amounting to £25.5m in 60 projects.

The Aston Institute of Health & 
Neurodevelopment (AIHN) conducts 
interdisciplinary research for the study of 
developing brains, conducting fundamental 
research which impacts upon the wellbeing 
and success of people and society.

The Aston Institute for Forensic Linguistics 
(AIFL) improves the delivery of justice 
through the analysis of language.

The Energy and Bioproducts Research 
Institute (EBRI) conducts world-class 
research into all aspects of bioenergy 
including energy-from-waste and the 
development of new bioproducts and 
services, all of which contribute to 
improving the UK’s carbon footprint and 
the security of energy supplies.

University Research Institutes

These are the primary research flagships and priority for research capital 
investment, with a target for these to account for 50% of awards in the future.

Knowledge Transfer Partnerships

We’re sector leaders for KTPs – this is a world-leading programme that helps businesses 
succeed by connecting them to academic expertise and resources.

This is a collaboration between our institution, a company seeking knowledge and a recently 
qualified graduate.

Research with impact 

Aston Institute of Photonic Technologies 
- Advancing knowledge and innovation  
in photonics 

Our success has been built on significant 
achievements in all aspects of light-based 
information and communication technology. 
The Institute has an extensive portfolio of 
industrial and international collaborations, 
spin-out companies, highly cited papers  
and patents, all demonstrating excellence  
in the field.

Energy & Bioproducts Research Institute 
- Implementing practical bioenergy and 
energy systems solutions

We are committed to creating world-
class bioenergy research and technology 
development. Our work demonstrates that 
there is a viable, sustainable alternative 
to fossil fuels. We act as a focus for 
international activities on scientific 
and technological aspects of biomass 
conversion and utilisation of products for 
renewable power, heat, transport fuels, 
hydrogen and chemicals, working to extract 
the maximum value from all types  
of biomass including waste resources.

Aston Institute of Health & 
Neurodevelopment - Developing  
healthy minds

Our research in children extends from 
‘bench to bedside’. Our discoveries 
become the next advances in healthcare 
and educational policy for literacy, eating 
and neurodevelopmental disorders. Our 
researchers conduct studies around 
meaningful questions which impact on  
the wellbeing of young people and society, 
in particular: autism and social cognition, 
eating and nutrition, epilepsy, reading  
and dyslexia.

Aston Institute for Forensic Linguistics - 
Delivering justice through the analysis  
of language

We work rigorously to develop and validate 
methods and to remain true to linguistics 
and speech science as disciplinary areas. 
We examine the justice system with a 
critical eye using the various tools and 
approaches available within contemporary 
linguistics and speech science.
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Intellectual Property

Our track record of research 
exploitation dates back over 40 
years, with one of our earliest 
and most renowned success 
stories being the revolutionary 
anti-cancer medication, 
Temozolomide. This blockbuster 
drug became the treatment of 
choice for some of the most 
hard-to-treat brain cancers and 
achieved annual worldwide 
sales of over $1 billion.

Research England praised 
our IP and commercialisation 
efforts in the 2021 Knowledge 
Exchange Framework (KEF), 
placing us in the top 30 per 
cent of comparable institutions 
for intellectual property (IP) and 
commercialisation.

1,107
Companies engaging with
us on a KTP see an average
ROI of 1,107%

We won Innovate UK’s
Best of the Best KTP
award 2020

1
We are the top provider
of KTPs in the region

st 6
We rank 6th
nationally for KTPs

th

UK KTP
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Aston University  
and Aston Villa Football Club
The University has a long-term partnership with Aston Villa 
Football Club as its primary education partner.

Villa Vision

•  The Villa Vision initiative is raising awareness of the 
importance of eye health to children in schools and 
individuals in local communities. 

•  It is a partnership between the Aston Villa Foundation, 
Aston University’s Optometry School and optical lens 
supplier, Essilor Vision for Life. 

•  The Villa Vision project team are delivering a programme of 
eye-health awareness lessons in the classroom, free vision 
and colour vision screening.

ENGAGEMENT PERFORMANCE

Our regional and civic engagement aligns with our core mission to collaborate and 
co-produce mutually beneficial activities with the people who live, work and study 
in the West Midlands. This overview showcases examples of our commitment to 
engagement, performance and our communities in the Midlands and beyond.

Aston University signs up to civic university 
agreement to strengthen role in local community, 
March 2021
•  Aston University has become one of the first universities  

to sign a civic university agreement with Birmingham  
City Council.

•  The agreements will see the universities work jointly with 
the Council and other local stakeholders to develop and 
enhance their civic role in Birmingham, their wide-ranging 
collaborations and their contributions to the city and 
wider region.

•  Civic university agreements are aimed at ensuring universities 
can build mutually beneficial relationships in their localities, 
providing investment and opportunities that do public good 
and meet local needs.

Women’s Leadership Programme
In partnership with Aston Villa Women Football Club, the 
women’s leadership programme will form part of a wider 
chartered management degree apprenticeship.

•  The programme is designed to facilitate the exchange of 
knowledge by female leaders across private and public 
sector careers about their journeys and achievements.

•  It is a mix of relevant theory and practical experience, 
delivered by experts from Aston University.

•  The inclusion of learning opportunities had a positive effect 
on the club’s recruitment process.

Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games
•  Official University – Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games.

•  Birmingham is preparing to host the Commonwealth Games 
starting in July 2022. 

•  More than 13,000 volunteers will help to organise, run and 
manage this event. 

Help to Grow scheme at Aston Business School, July 
2021
•  The government-funded scheme will give 30,000 SMEs 

access to world-class business expertise on everything from 
financial management to marketing and is a pivotal part of the 
government’s Plan for Jobs, helping businesses to grow and 
drive the recovery from the pandemic.

•  The scheme will also support senior managers of SMEs 
to boost performance, resilience, and long-term growth. 
The programme is 90% funded by the Government and 
participants can complete alongside full time work.

Aston University pledges funding support  
for SME apprenticeships, June 2021
•  Aston University has pledged support of £120,000 for the 

next three years out of its Apprenticeship Levy as part of a 
scheme set up by the West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) to fund apprenticeship training for small and 
medium-sized businesses (SMEs).

•  The Apprenticeship Levy Transfer Fund enables large 
employers to pledge their unspent levy to fund the training 
of apprentices at SMEs in the West Midlands – boosting the 
region’s economic recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic.

•  The fund keeps levy money within the West Midlands, 
boosting skills, job opportunities and productivity by 
supporting more young people and adults of all ages  
into work.
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Aston University is committed to exhibiting best practice in all 
aspects of corporate governance. The University is an exempt 
charity as defined by the Charities Act 2011 and members of its 
Council are trustees of the charity. The Office for Students is the 
University’s principal regulator in respect of the University’s status  
as a registered higher education provider in England and as an 
exempt charity.

The Council, as the University’s governing body, ensures that the 
University operates in accordance with its constitutional documents, 
the requisite sector standards including Committee of University 
Chairs’ (CUC) Higher Education Code of Governance (September 
2020), CUC HE Senior Staff Remuneration Code and the CUC’s 
“Guidance on decisions taken about severance payments in 
HEIs” and the OfS Regulatory Framework including its terms and 
conditions of funding for higher education institutions, conditions  
of registration, audit code of practice and regulatory guidance.

Aston University recognises its responsibility to be an exemplar of 
behaviour and conduct in all that it does, and it aspires to be a leader 
in the higher education sector in terms of its approach to ethical 
practice. During 2020, the University undertook a detailed review 
of its Ethics Framework and policy infrastructure. Each element 
of the framework was challenged and integrated into principles 
supported by four policy pillars. In addition, all University policy was 
reviewed and updated as required. The result is a new organisational 
document that replaced the Ethics Framework articulating what’s 
referred to as “Our Principles” and how they connect to the 
University’s policy infrastructure and, notably, the delivery of the 
University’s Strategy, Mission and Vision.

The policy infrastructure is made up of four pillars:

1.  Academic: all policy relating to learning, teaching and research.
2.  Integrity: all compliance policy.
3.  Respect: all policy relating to fairness, health and safety, and 

respect in our community.
4.  Stewardship: all policy relating to safeguarding our environment 

and assets, and community engagement.

Governance Structure
The University’s Charter, Statutes and Ordinances set out the 
arrangements for the governance and management of the institution. 
The Charter requires the University to have three separate bodies, 
each with clearly defined powers and responsibilities, to oversee and 
manage its activities: Council, Senate and Convocation.

Council
Council is established by the Charter as the “executive governing 
body of the University” with the authority to legally bind the 
University and the responsibility for the management and 
administration of the revenue and property of the University. 
Furthermore, it has general control over the conduct of the 
University’s affairs. 

Council comprises 15 voting members and meets five times 
each year. A majority (at least eight and no more than eleven) of 
Council’s members are from outside the University (the independent 
members), contributing a wide range of experience and expertise 
from the public and private sectors. Up to five Council members are 
University staff and one is a student (the President of the Students’ 
Union). Council members ensure that the Council conducts itself 
in accordance with accepted standards of behaviour in public 
life, embracing selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership. Independent members of 
Council bring a wide range of knowledge and expertise, ensure the 
financial and environmental sustainability of the University, ensure 
that there are effective systems of control and risk management in 
place and ensure that the governance structures and processes are 
robust, effective and agile.

In October 2020, the Council endorsed a prioritised action plan 
developed by the Nominations and Governance Committee (NGC) 
following the Council Effectiveness Review of 2019 and resulted 
in enhancements to the strategy implementation and academic 
governance, quality and standards including the commissioning of 
an effectiveness review of Senate and further assurance in relation to 
compliance with the OfS Regulatory Framework.

Council is supported by its sub-committees:

•  Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) whose purpose it is to advise 
and assist the Council in respect of the entire assurance and 
control environment of the University.

•  Finance and Infrastructure Committee (FIC) whose purpose 
it is to consider and make recommendations to Council on 
the strategies and policies for the effective and efficient use 
of the University’s financial and physical resources, and to be 
responsible to Council for ensuring the solvency of the University 
and the safeguarding of its assets.

•  Nominations and Governance Committee (NGC) whose purpose 
it is to keep under review and to advise Council on the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the University’s governance arrangements; 
and on the processes for the appointment of new members of 
Council and its Committees, and their induction, mentoring, 
development and appraisal.

•  Remuneration and Workforce Strategy Committee (RWSC) 
whose purpose it is to oversee and advise Council on the 
University’s Executive remuneration strategy, policy and 
approvals processes; and matters relating to staff employment, 
including the Aston People Strategy.

The membership of Council: 2020-2021
Council Member Council Role ARC FIC NGC RWSC

Dame Yve Buckland DBE Pro-Chancellor and Chair Member Member

Ranjit Dhindsa Independent Member Member

Dr Melanie Gibbs Independent Member Member

Dr Toby Lewis Independent Member Chair

Dr Sue Noffke Independent Member Chair Member

Dr Rob Perrins Independent Member Chair

Dr Vijith Randeniya OBE Deputy Chair Member Chair

Dr Jason Wouhra OBE Independent Member Member 

Dr Mike Wright Senior Independent Member Member

Professor Gill Nicholls, OBE Associate Non-Voting Member:  
HE Sector Advisor Attends

Professor Alec Cameron Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive Attends Attends Attends

Professor Helen Higson OBE Provost (until 1st Feb 2021) Attends Attends Attends

Neil Scott Chief Operating Officer Attends Attends Attends

Saskia Loer Hansen Deputy Vice-Chancellor Engagement

Professor Paul Topham Academic Staff Senate Representative

Dr Hannah Bartlett Academic Assembly Representative

Harry Sheppard Students’ Union President

Sanjay Khullar Independent ARC Member External Member 

Attendance of independent and associate members: 2020-2021
 
Council Member

Total  
Possible

Total 
Attended

%  
Attended

Dame Yve Buckland DBE 21 21 100%

Ranjit Dhindsa 10 9 90%

Dr Melanie Gibbs 27 25 93%

Dr Toby Lewis 27 15 56%

Dr Sue Noffke 27 24 89%

Dr Rob Perrins 27 14 52%

Dr Vijith Randeniya OBE 27 22 81%

Dr Jason Wouhra OBE 4 3 75%

Dr Mike Wright 27 24 89%

Professor Gill Nicholls OBE 9 9 100%

Total 206 166 81%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  (continued)
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Senate
Overseen by Council, Senate is the principal academic body of 
Aston University and it is responsible for overseeing the quality and 
standards of all teaching, learning and research activities. With over 
50 members, including Pro-Vice-Chancellors and Executive Deans, 
other academic and professional staff, and student representatives, 
Senate is chaired by the Vice-Chancellor and meets three times a 
year. Senate is supported by its sub-committees:

•  Learning and Teaching Committee
•  Research Committee
•  International Strategy Committee

A review of the effectiveness of Senate was undertaken in Autumn 
2020 and the outcomes published and approved by Council in 
January 2021. The Higher Education Code of Governance (2020 
revision) was used as guidance to inform the methodology for 
the review which included a survey, focus groups and interviews 
exploring the agreed scope that addressed:

•  Clarity and Relevance of the Purpose and Terms of Reference of 
the Senate

•  Effective Membership
•  Effective Structure and Processes and Operation
•  Effective Information and Communication
•  Effective reflection of the University Strategy and Culture

The review affirmed the Guiding Principles of the Senate and 
sharpened the scheme of delegation of Senate’s power and 
responsibilities.

The independent chair of the review concluded that there was 
much to be valued in the current Senate, the coverage it provided, 
the commitment of its members to the University and support 
at all levels for its core purpose differentiated from Council and 
Executive. They judged, with support from the Review group, that 
through greater clarity, streamlining and better communication, the 
Senate could take thoughtful steps towards being more effective 
and demonstrating that in ways more visible to Council and its 
stakeholders. It was determined that radical refreshment could be 
achieved through several simple adjustments occurring in concert 
with goodwill from those involved.

ARC is supporting Council in the oversight of the implementation of 
the outcomes of the Senate effectiveness review in accordance with 
its role in oversight, adequacy and assurance of effective systems of 
the control and risk management environment at the University.

Convocation
The Convocation is a largely formal body through which the 
University maintains contact with the wider community. The 
Convocation is chaired by Aston’s Chancellor, Sir John Sunderland 
and meets annually. Its membership includes the University 
Council, Officers, academic staff, representatives of Students’ 
Union and Aston alumni, together with representatives of a wide 
range of external bodies. The Convocation appoints the Chancellor 
on the joint recommendation of the Council and the Senate. The 
Convocation typically receives presentations on the work of the 
University and provides a forum through Convocation members can 
raise any matters about the University.

Executive
The Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive is supported by the 
University Executive. The Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Engagement) 
assists the Vice-Chancellor in the management of the University 
and acts as their deputy. The Pro-Vice-Chancellors (PVC) are senior 
appointees who assist the Vice-Chancellor in the specific areas 
of Research and Education. The University has three academic 
Colleges: Engineering and Applied Sciences, Business and Social 
Sciences and Life and Health Sciences. Each College is led by a 
Pro-Vice Chancellor and Executive Dean, who is also a member 
of the Executive. The other members of the Executive are the 
Chief Operating Officer, Executive Director of Human Resources 
and Organisational Development, Executive Director of Business 
Engagement and Executive Director of Marketing, Recruitment & 
Communications.

The Executive convenes to discuss topics of strategic and 
operational importance to the University, and to inform decisions 
of the Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive and other executives. 
To devolve input to appropriate parties, and to manage the agenda 
of the Executive Committee, the following groups have been 
established: Executive Academic Group, Executive Engagement 
Group and Executive Operations Group. Each group is chaired by 
members of the Executive as appointed by the Vice Chancellor and 
Chief Executive.

The Financial and Contracting Policy states the scheme of 
delegation of the University from the Council and sets out the 
authority of the officers and the University’s constitutional bodies 
notably Council and its sub-committees to enter legally binding 
arrangements.

Internal Control
The Council is responsible for the University’s system of internal 
control which supports the achievement of policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public and other funds and 
assets for which it is responsible. Such a system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

ARC underpins a robust and effective control environment at the 
University and regularly reports to Council. In addition, it produces 
an annual report to Council in which it provides an overview of how 
it has met its objectives and its assessment of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the University’s arrangements for risk management, 
control and governance; economy, efficiency and effectiveness and 
management.

Furthermore, ARC regularly receives reports from the Executive on 
internal controls and issues as they arise, along with having oversight 
of action plans to ensure effective corrective actions are taken where 
internal control or audit improvements have been identified.

The University’s risk management function is largely delivered 
through its internal auditors (currently PwC UK LLP) whose annual 
programme is pre-approved by ARC. In order to provide assurance 
that the processes and controls are operating effectively, internal 
auditors undertake an annual review of elements of the University’s 
procedures for governance and risk management, internal financial 
controls and its arrangements to promote value for money, as well 
as the underlying control and monitoring processes. Based on this 
the internal auditors provide an opinion to ARC on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal control. ARC also receives comments 
from the University’s external auditors (currently BDO) in their 
management letter and other reports. ARC regularly seeks advice 
from the internal and external auditors to improve its internal controls 
and performance, and to adopt best current practice.

Financial Control
The Council is charged with governing and regulating the finances 
and ensuring there is an appropriate system of financial controls to:

•  ensure that the University is financially sustainable and has 
sufficient financial resources to deliver its aims and objectives. 

•  ensure that public funds are appropriately safeguarded and are 
used only for the purposes for which they have been given, in 
accordance with any conditions and requirements specified by 
funding bodies. 

•  safeguard the University’s assets and prevent and detect fraud.
•  secure the economical, efficient and effective management of 

the University’s resources and expenditure. 

To support delivery of the above Council has approved policies 
which detail the financial controls and procedures, as well as 
processes for risk management, procurement, import controls, 
prevention of fraud, prevention of money laundering, management 
of conflicts of interest, procedures to prevent tax evasion and ensure 
compliance with data, privacy and information laws. The University 
has clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and 
control of expenditure as set out in the Financial and Contracting 
Policy. This includes formalisation of roles for detailed appraisal and 
review according to approval levels set by the Council. The policy is 
approved and subject to regular review by the FIC. The effectiveness 
of the policy and procedures is periodically reviewed by the ARC.

Risk assessment and internal control are embedded in ongoing 
operations through clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and 
the authority delegated to, those responsible for academic and 
administrative departments.

Council has established a comprehensive long and medium-
term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual 
income, expenditure, capital, and cash flow budgets. A set of 
key performance indicators (KPIs) to support achievement of the 
University’s aims and objectives are reviewed by the Executive 
Team and Council on a six-monthly basis. Action plans are identified 
to address KPIs which are below target or moving in the wrong 
direction. The KPIs encompass student success measures together 
with financial and non-financial indicators which include monitoring 
of research activity, student satisfaction, carbon emissions, 
availability of systems and assessment of the University estate.

The Council, through its designated Accountable Officer (the Vice-
Chancellor and Chief Executive), is required to approve financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of 
the University’s financial performance including the surplus or deficit 
and cash flows for that year.

The University also has comprehensive personnel policies including 
all phases of employment, and all aspects of equality and diversity, 
whistleblowing, grievances and harassment and appropriate 
procedures for the appointment of the Vice-Chancellor and other 
senior officers. This also includes processes for monitoring their 
performance, including the NRC which oversees the remuneration 
arrangements for senior staff.

Risk Management
Council has responsibility for setting the risk appetite for the 
University and ensuring that there is an appropriate framework for 
managing risk at all levels of the organisation. The University has a 
strategic risk management policy which sets out the risk appetite 
and the strategic risk assessment and management process, 
including academic risk, which informs a strategic risk register. The 
risk register is compiled and reviewed by the Executive every six 
months. The University has a Head of Strategic Risk who manages 
the operational activities on behalf of Council. Risks are split 
between operational and environmental risks and include financial 
and non-financial risks. Risks are evaluated on an assessment of the 
likelihood and the potential impact if the risk was to arise. Mitigations 
and sources of assurance are considered for all risks and the internal 
control processes revised to account for such risks. 

Tactical risks are held at College or working group level and are an 
integral part of all governance and operating activities.

ARC reviews the University’s strategic risk register at regular intervals 
and reports its observations to the Council, which undertakes 
reviews of strategic risk management on a twice-yearly basis. The 
University has, in the view of the Committee, developed effective 
and robust procedures and controls for the management of risk.

There has been increased scrutiny by ARC of the strategic risks 
and the procedures and controls to manage them in the light of 
Covid-19. All risks have been updated to reflect any additional 
impact as a result of the pandemic. The University has demonstrated 
through its response to Covid-19 that its procedures and controls 
are effective at managing risk.

The Internal Audit Annual Report 2020-21 concluded that overall, 
the system of internal control is generally satisfactory with some 
improvements required. There have been no unsatisfactory reports 
and no individual critical findings raised during the year. Governance 
and risk management and control in relation to business-critical 
areas is generally satisfactory.

Accounting Basis
The Council has ensured that suitable accounting policies are 
selected and applied consistently; judgements and estimates are 
made that are reasonable and prudent; applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and financial 
statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it 
is inappropriate to presume that the University will continue in 
operation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  (continued)CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  (continued)
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Going Concern
The Council has considered the University’s academic and financial 
position, with due regard to its cash flows, liquidity and borrowings 
and the factors likely to impact on future expectations as included in 
the Operating and Financial Review.

The University adopts a cautious approach to financial risk 
management. Funds are placed in low-risk deposit accounts. While 
this limits the amount of financial return available, it does not expose 
these essential funds to undue risk.

We believe that the University is well placed to manage its business 
risk successfully given its positive cash position, despite the current 
uncertain economic outlook and continued student recruitment 
pressures facing the higher education sector and will continue to 
seek ways to drive efficiencies. Any risk to cash-flow will result in the 
capital plans being reviewed and amendment as required.

Council is satisfied that the University has adequate resources to 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future and for this reason 
the going concern basis continues to be adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements.

Council Members responsibilities in respect  
of the financial statements:
In the preparation of the Financial Statements the Council has 
ensured that:

•  Suitable accounting policies are selected and applied 
consistently;

•  Judgments and accounting estimates are made that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•   Applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

•  The financial statements are prepared on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the University 
will continue in operation. The Council is satisfied that the 
University has adequate resources to continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future. For this reason the going concern basis 
continues to be adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements.

The Council has taken reasonable steps to:

•  Ensure that the funds from the Office For Students, Research 
England and the Education and Skills Funding Agency are 
used only for the purposes for which they have been given, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of OfS funding and 
Research England grant, and with the funding agreements with 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency;

•  Ensure that there are appropriate financial and management 
controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other 
sources; and

•  Safeguard the assets of the University and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion, the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 
University’s affairs as at 31 July 2021 and of the Group’s and the 
University’s income and expenditure, changes in reserves and 
of the Group’s and the University’s cash flows for the year then 
ended; and

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

We have audited the financial statements of Aston University  
(“the University”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year 
ended 31 July 2021 which comprise the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, the Consolidated and 
University Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated 
and University Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of 
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group and University in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the 
board members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group 
and University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period 
of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the board members 
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report.

Other information
The Council are responsible for the other information. Other 
information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information including the Key 
Highlights, the Operating and Financial Review and the Corporate 
Governance Statement and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information we are required to report that 
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF ASTON UNIVERSITY (continued)INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF ASTON UNIVERSITY (continued)

Opinion on other matters required by the Office for Students 
(“OfS”) and Research England
In our opinion, in all material respects:

•  Funds from whatever source administered by the University for 
specific purposes have been properly applied to those purposes 
and managed in accordance with relevant legislation. 

•  Funds provided by the OfS, UK Research and Innovation 
(including Research England), the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency and the Department for Education have been applied in 
accordance with the relevant terms and conditions

•  The requirements of the OfS’s Accounts Direction (OfS 2019.41) 
have been met.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters  
in relation to which the OfS requires us to report to you if,  
in our opinion:

•  The University’s grant and fee income, as disclosed in the note to 
the accounts, has been materially misstated.

•  The University’s expenditure on access and participation 
activities for the financial year has been materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Council
As explained more fully in the Council’s members responsibilities 
statement set out on page 26, the Council are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Council determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council are responsible 
for assessing the Group and the University’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Council either intends to liquidate the Group or the University or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements 
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is 
detailed below:

Based on our understanding of the Group and the sector in which 
it operates, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations are related to their registration with 
the Office for Students (“OfS) and their ongoing conditions of 
registration, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance 
might have a material effect on the Group Financial Statements 
or their continued operation. We also considered those laws and 
regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements 
such as compliance with the OfS Accounts Direction and tax 
legislation. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to 
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry 
of the Council and other management and inspection of regulatory 
and legal correspondence if any.

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for 
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the 
risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks 
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to manipulate 
financial results and management bias in accounting estimates. 

The audit procedures to address the risks identified included:

•  Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, 
reviewing internal audit reports and relevant regulators to identify 
any actual or potential frauds or any potential weaknesses in 
internal control which could result in fraud susceptibility;

•  Discussions with the Audit and Risk Committee and 
management, including consideration of known or suspected 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and 
fraud, including direct representation from the Accountable 
Officer;

•  Reviewing items included in the fraud register as well as the 
results of internal audit’s investigation into these matters;

•  Challenging assumptions made by management in their 
significant accounting estimates in particular in relation to the 
assumptions related to the useful economic life of fixed assets, 
provision for bad debts and the pension liability;

•  In addressing the risk of fraud, including the management 
override of controls and improper income recognition, we tested 
the appropriateness of certain journals, reviewed the application 
of judgements associated with accounting estimates for the 
indication of potential bias and tested the application of cut-off 
and revenue recognition; and 

•  Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular journals to 
cash and revenue codes, material journals, duplicate entries, 
rounded entries and journals containing specific text.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the 
risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations 
or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit 
procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with 
laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in 
the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

In addition, we also report to you whether income from funding 
bodies, grants and income for specific purposes and from other 
restricted funds administered by the University have been properly 
applied only for the purposes for which they were received and 
whether income has been applied in accordance with the Statutes 
and, where appropriate, with the Terms and Conditions of Funding 
with the OfS and Research England.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the University Council, as a body, in 
accordance with Section 75 of the Higher Education Research Act 
2017. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the University’s Council those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the University and the Council as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Samantha Lifford (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Birmingham
Date: 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England  
and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education 2019 and in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standards (FRS 102). The University is a public 
benefit entity and therefore has applied the relevant public benefit 
requirement of FRS 102. The financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention (modified by the 
revaluation of fixed assets).

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the University and 
all its subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2021. The results 
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure from the date of acquisition or up to the date of 
disposal. Intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
Associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for using 
the fair value method.

The consolidated financial statements do not include the income 
and expenditure of Aston Students’ Union or Aston University 
Engineering Academy as the University does not exert control or 
dominant influence over the policy decisions for these entities.

Going Concern
The Council has considered the University’s academic and financial 
position, with due regard to its cash flows, liquidity and borrowings 
and the factors likely to impact on future expectations as included in 
the Operating and Financial review above.

The University adopts a cautious approach to financial risk 
management. Funds are placed in low risk deposit accounts. While 
this limits the amount of return available, it does not expose these 
essential funds to undue risk.

Council believe that the University is well placed to manage its 
business risk successfully, despite the current uncertain economic 
outlook and student recruitment pressures facing the higher 
education sector and will continue to seek ways to drive efficiencies. 
Any risk to cash-flow will result in the capital plans being reviewed 
and amendment as required.

Management have completed a thorough assessment of the 
appropriateness of the going concern assertion. This has included 
consideration of a number of budget scenarios for 2021/22 in light 
of potential ongoing Covid-19 impacts and the impact of these 
scenarios and capital plans on cash balances, with these scenarios 
being extrapolated through five-year plans. Prudent assumptions 
have been applied, and the capital plan has been re-phased to 
ensure cash balances are maintained through 2022/23 and beyond.

The University has drawn-down £15m of the agreed HSBC facility, 
and can draw-down the remaining £25m balance on demand, as 
such at budget level available funds are not expected to fall below 
£58.8m in 2021/22. The start to 2021/22 has been positive, and 
activity has been reforecast accordingly. At both budget and forecast 
level the University plans to meet all debt covenant obligations with 
significant flexibility in these measures.

The University has strong cash balances, uses prudent revenue 
and cost assumptions in forecasting, has reasonable levels of 
discretionary revenue and capital expenditure and forecasts 
compliance with debt covenants. 

As such, Council is satisfied that the University has adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and for 
this reason the going concern basis continues to be adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements.

Income recognition
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
when the goods or services are supplied to the external customers 
or the terms of the contract have been satisfied.

Tuition Fee Income
Tuition fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is 
not a discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the period in which 
students are studying. Where the amount of the tuition fee is 
reduced, by a discount for prompt payment, income receivable 
is shown net of the discount. Bursaries and scholarships which 
are not offered as a deduction on fees are accounted for gross as 
expenditure and not deducted from income.

Investment income
Investment income is credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure on a receivable basis.

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agents 
on behalf of a funding body are excluded from the income and 
expenditure of the University where the University is exposed to 
minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the 
transaction.

Grant funding
Government revenue grants including funding council block grant 
and research grants are recognised in income over the periods in 
which the University recognises the related costs for which the grant 
is intended to compensate. Where part of a government grant is 
deferred it is recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more 
than one year as appropriate. 

Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources 
are recognised in income when the University is entitled to the 
income and performance related conditions have been met. Income 
received in advance of performance related conditions being met is 
recognised as deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet 
and released to income as the conditions are met.

Donations and endowments
Donations and endowments are non-exchange transactions without 
performance related conditions. Donations and endowments with 
donor imposed restrictions are recognised in income when the 
University is entitled to the funds. Income is retained within the 
restricted reserve until such time that it is utilised in line with such 
restrictions at which point the income is released to general reserves 
through a reserve transfer. 

Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income when the 
University is entitled to the funds. 

Investment income and appreciation of endowments is recorded 
in income in the year in which it arises and as either restricted or 
unrestricted income according to the terms or restrictions applied to 
the individual endowment fund. 

There are four main types of donations and endowments identified 
within reserves:

•  Restricted donations – the donor has specified that the donation 
must be used for a particular objective.

•  Unrestricted permanent endowments – the donor has specified 
that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream for the general benefit of the University.

•  Restricted expendable endowments – the donor has specified 
a particular objective other than the purchase or construction of 
tangible fixed assets, and the University has the power to use the 
capital.

•  Restricted permanent endowments – the donor has specified 
that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an 
income stream to be applied to a particular objective.

Capital Grants
Government capital grants are recognised in income over the 
expected useful life of the asset. Other capital grants are recognised 
in income when the University is entitled to the funds subject to any 
performance related conditions being met.

Accounting for retirement benefits
The three principal pension schemes for the University’s staff are 
the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), Scottish Widows 
Pension Scheme (SWPS) and Aston University Pension Scheme 
(AUPS). AUPS is now a closed scheme to new entrants and future 
accrual and all existing members now have deferred benefits. 

AUPS is a defined benefit scheme which was externally funded 
and for the period up to 5 April 2016 was contracted out of the 
State Second Pension (S2P). From 6 April 2016, contracting out 
ceased with the introduction of the Government’s new state pension. 
The fund is valued every three years by professionally qualified 
independent actuaries. The last formal valuation of the Scheme was 
carried out as at 31 March 2019.

USS is a hybrid pension scheme, providing defined benefits (for all 
members), as well as defined contribution benefits. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Because 
of the mutual nature of the scheme, the assets are not attributed to 
individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. 
The institution is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with 
other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. As required by Section 28 of FRS 102 “Employee 
benefits”, the institution therefore accounts for the scheme as if it 
were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged 
to the profit and loss account represents the contributions payable 
to the scheme. Since the institution has entered into an agreement 
(the Recovery Plan) that determines how each employer within 
the scheme will fund the overall deficit, the institution recognises a 
liability for the contributions payable that arise from the agreement 
(to the extent that they relate to the deficit) with related expenses 
being recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure.

SWPS is a defined contribution plan, a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the University pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the year during which 
services are rendered by employees.

Further details on all pension schemes are disclosed in note 26.

Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated 
absences are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
employees render service to the University. Any unused benefits, 
such as holiday entitlements earned but not taken at the balance 
sheet date, are accrued and measured as the additional amount the 
University expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

Finance leases
Leases in which the University assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified as 
finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease 
and the corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at an 
amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. 

Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight line 
basis over the lease term. Any lease premiums or incentives are 
spread over the minimum lease term.

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective 
functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are 
translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the 
functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the 
fair value was determined.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Certain items of land and buildings 
that had been revalued to fair value on or prior to 1 August 2014 are 
measured on the basis of deemed cost, being the revalued amount 
at the date of that revaluation. Depreciation and impairment losses 
are subsequently charged on the revalued amount.

Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate components for the purposes of charging 
depreciation.

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Land and buildings
Capitalisation: Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after 
initial purchase or construction, and prior to valuation, are capitalised 
to the extent that they increase the expected future benefits to the 
University. 

Depreciation: Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to 
have an indefinite useful life. Freehold buildings are depreciated on a 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

New buildings and extensions 40 – 50 years
Refurbishments 10 – 20 years
Building Improvements 10 – 15 years

Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on 
the value of architects’ certificates and other direct costs incurred 
to 31 July. No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of 
construction.

Plant & machinery, fixtures, fittings & equipment, and intangible 
assets
Capitalisation: Items costing less than £10,000 per individual 
item (where not part of a larger capital project) is recognised as 
expenditure in the year of acquisition. All other items are capitalised 
at cost.

Depreciation and amortisation: Capitalised plant & machinery, 
fixtures, fittings & equipment, and intangible assets are depreciated/
amortised on a straight line basis over their useful economic life as 
follows:

Major Systems and Equipment 5 – 10 years
Computer Equipment and Software 3 – 5 years
Equipment acquired for specific research projects 1 – 5 years
Motor Vehicles and General Equipment 3 – 5 years

Depreciation and amortisation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance 
Sheet. 

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Heritage assets
Works of art and other valuable artefacts and valued at over £10,000 
have been capitalised and recognised at cost or value on acquisition, 
where such a valuation is reasonably obtainable. Heritage assets are 
not depreciated as their long economic life and high residual value 
mean that any depreciation would not be material. 

Investments
Non-current asset investments are held on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost less impairment.

Current asset investments are held on the Balance Sheet at fair value 
with movements recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure.

Investments in jointly controlled entities, associates and subsidiaries 
are carried at cost less impairment in the University’s accounts.

Stock
Stock is held at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and is 
measured using an average cost formula.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, cash at bank, and deposits repayable 
on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if 
they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amount of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value. 

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:

•  the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, 

•  it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; and 

•  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks 
specific to the liability. 

A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the 
University a possible obligation whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the University. Contingent liabilities 
also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be 
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that 
gives the University a possible asset whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the University.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Balance 
Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.

Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part 3 of 
the Charities Act 2011. It is therefore a charity within the meaning of 
Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 and accordingly, 
the University is potentially exempt from UK Corporation Tax in 
respect of income or capital gains received within categories 
covered by section 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or 
section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the 
extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively charitable 
purposes.

The University receives no similar exemption in respect of Value 
Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs 
of such inputs. Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to fixed assets is 
included in their cost.

Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences that exist 
at the balance sheet date and that result in an obligation to pay 
more tax, or a right to pay less tax in the future. The deferred tax 
is measured at the rate expected to apply in periods in which the 
timing differences are expected to reverse, based on the tax rates 
and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance 
Sheet date. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets 
shall be recognised only to the extent that it is probable that they will 
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other 
future taxable profits.

The University’s subsidiary companies are subject to Corporation 
Tax and VAT in the same way as any commercial organisation.

Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted 
endowment reserves include balances which, through endowment 
to the University, are held as a permanently restricted fund which the 
University must hold in perpetuity. Other restricted reserves include 
balances where the donor has designated a specific purpose and 
therefore the University is restricted in the use of these funds.

Significant judgements and estimates
Preparation of the financial statements requires management 
to make significant judgements and estimates. The items in the 
financial statements where these judgements and estimates have 
been made include:

Aston University Pension Scheme (AUPS)
The University obtains a valuation from Hymans Robertson LLP 
who make decisions on behalf of the University on the financial 
assumptions used to calculate the net liability of the scheme. These 
assumptions include the RPI%, CPI%, salary increases, pension 
increases, mortality rates, discount rate and the estimate of the 
duration of employer liabilities.

The University allows Hymans Robertson LLP to apply their skill and 
judgement in setting these parameters as the pension experts rather 
than suggesting a rate.

Any changes in actuarial assumptions or differences between the 
figures derived from the roll forward approach and the full actuarial 
valuation will impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
FRS 102 makes the distinction between a group plan and a multi-
employer scheme. A group plan consists of a collection of entities 
under common control typically with a sponsoring employer. A 
multi-employer scheme is a scheme for entities not under common 
control and represents (typically) an industry-wide scheme such 
as Universities Superannuation Scheme. The accounting for a 
multi-employer scheme where the employer has entered into an 
agreement with the scheme that determines how the employer 
will fund a deficit results in the recognition of a liability for the 
contributions payable that arise from the agreement (to the extent 
that they relate to the deficit) and the resulting expense in profit or 
loss in accordance with section 28 of FRS 102. The directors are 
satisfied that USS meets the definition of a multi-employer scheme 
and has therefore recognised the discounted fair value of the 
contractual contributions under the recovery plan in existence at the 
date of approving the financial statements.

The USS modeller used for calculation of the pension deficit 
required in the financial statements has used assumptions on staff 
salary inflation percentages and the percentage change in staff 
numbers in subsequent years. In making the estimated percentages, 
management considered past movement in salary inflation and staff 
numbers as well as considering the University’s strategic plans, 
current economic climate and consistency with AUPS assumptions.

Aston University has also chosen to apply the discount rate provided 
by Mercer Limited actuaries in the USS modeller. Mercer Limited 
have used a set of assumptions to arrive at the discount rate with 
Aston University accepting the set of assumptions as reasonable.

Impairment of assets
There are two key areas that require judgement:

•  the recoverability of aged trade receivables based on the 
knowledge of the individuals or market. Where conditions 
suggest the full recoverability is doubtful, a provision will be 
recognised; and

•  judgements as to whether any indicators of impairment are 
present for any of the University’s assets. 

Neither of these judgement areas have resulted in a significant 
change to the University’s reported performance.

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Income

Tuition fees and education contracts 1 122,546 122,546 117,149 117,149 

Funding body grants 2 21,011 21,011 18,618 18,618 

Research grants and contracts 3 21,142 21,142 17,088 17,088 

Other operating income 5 7,087 6,974 11,806 10,003 

Investment income 6 46 46 194 194 

Total income before endowments and donations 171,832 171,719 164,855 163,052 

Donations and endowments 7 663 663 340 340 

Total income 172,495 172,382 165,195 163,392 

Expenditure

Staff costs before USS pension provision 8 101,662 100,995 101,935 101,016 

Decrease in USS pension provision 8 (2,030) (2,030) (22,781) (22,781)

Other operating expenses 10 49,398 50,005 46,896 45,533 

Depreciation and amortisation 13 12,156 12,121 10,995 10,977 

Interest and other finance costs 9 1,840 1,840 2,423 2,423 

Total expenditure 10 163,026 162,931 139,468 137,168 

Surplus before other gains and losses 9,469 9,451 25,727 26,224 

Effect of USS pension provision (2,030) (2,030) (22,781) (22,781)

Surplus before USS pension provision and other gains and losses 7,439 7,421 2,946 3,443 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (131) (131) (8) (8)

Gain on investments 161 161 12 12 

Surplus before tax 9,499 9,481 25,731 26,228 

Taxation 12 40 – 100 (15)

Surplus for the year 9,539 9,481 25,831 26,213 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 26 11,788 11,788 (4,495) (4,495)

Total comprehensive income for the year 21,327 21,269 21,336 21,718 

Represented by:

Endowment comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 68 68 (235) (235)

Restricted comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 309 309 (1,021) (1,021)

Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year 20,950 20,892 22,592 22,974 

21,327 21,269 21,336 21,718 

Surplus for the year attributable to:

University 9,539 9,481 25,831 26,213 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to

University 21,327 21,269 21,336 21,718 

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities

Consolidated 

Income and expenditure account 

Endowment Restricted Unrestricted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 August 2019 1,432 2,429 88,221 92,082

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and expenditure statement (235) (1,021) 27,087 25,831

Other comprehensive expenditure – – (4,495) (4,495)

Total comprehensive (expenditure)/income for the year (235) (1,021) 22,592 21,336

As at 1 August 2020 1,197 1,408 110,813 113,418

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 68 309 9,162 9,539

Other comprehensive income – – 11,788 11,788

Total comprehensive income for the year 68 309 20,950 21,327

As at 31 July 2021 1,265 1,717 131,763 134,745

University

Income and expenditure account 

Endowment Restricted Unrestricted Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 August 2019 1,432 2,429 87,148 91,009

(Deficit)/surplus from the income and expenditure statement (235) (1,021) 27,469 26,213

Other comprehensive expenditure – – (4,495) (4,495)

Total comprehensive (expenditure)/income for the year (235) (1,021) 22,974 21,718

As at 1 August 2020  1,197  1,408  110,122  112,727

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  68  309  9,104  9,481

Other comprehensive income – –  11,788  11,788

Total comprehensive income for the year  68  309  20,892  21,269

As at 31 July 2021  1,265  1,717  131,014  133,996

CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
AS AT 31 JULY 2021
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Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Non-current assets

Intangible Assets 13b 1,981 1,954 974 938 

Fixed assets 13a 176,468 176,276 178,183 178,139 

Heritage assets 14 709 709 709 709 

Fixed Asset Investments 15 112 112 123 123 

179,270 179,051 179,989 179,909 

Current assets

Stock 16 18 18 30 30 

Trade and other receivables 17 15,561 17,651 13,083 13,900 

Investments 18 169 169 162 162 

Cash and cash equivalents 19 86,556 83,607 72,393 70,657 

102,304 101,445 85,668 84,749 

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 21 (53,877) (53,547) (49,852) (49,544)

Net current assets 48,427 47,898 35,816 35,205 

Total assets less current liabilities 227,697 226,949 215,805 215,114 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 (61,235) (61,236) (61,024) (61,024)

Provisions

Pension provisions 23 (27,434) (27,434) (41,363) (41,363)

Other provisions 23 (4,283) (4,283)  –  – 

Total net assets 134,745 133,996 113,418 112,727 

Restricted Reserves 

Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve 24 1,265 1,265 1,197 1,197 

Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve 25 1,717 1,717 1,408 1,408 

Unrestricted Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted 131,763 131,014 110,813 110,122 

Total Reserves 134,745 133,996 113,418 112,727 

The financial statements were approved by the Council on              and were signed on its behalf by the Pro Chancellor and the Vice 
Chancellor as the principle office holders, as defined in the Financial Memorandum.

Dame Yve Buckland DBE Professor Alec Cameron

Pro Chancellor and Chair of Council Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive

Year ended  
31 July 2021

Year ended  
31 July 2020

Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year before tax 9,499 25,731 

Adjustment for non-cash items

Depreciation 13a 11,690 10,749 

Amortisation of intangibles 13b 466 246 

Decrease/(increase) in stock 16 12 (1)

Increase in debtors 17 (2,438) (1,274)

Increase in creditors 21 8,087 8,893 

Adjusted decrease in pension provision 23 (2,525) (24,320)

Increase/(Decrease) in other provisions 23 4,283 (820)

Adjustment for investing or financing activities

Investment income 6 (46) (194)

Interest payable 9 1,840 2,423 

Endowment income 24 (24) (37)

Loss on the sale of tangible and intangible assets 131 8 

Capital grant income 21 (2,842) (2,330)

Cash flows from operating activities 28,133 19,074 

Taxation 12 – (15)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 28,133 19,059 

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital grants receipts 2,842 2,317 

Investment income 6 46 194 

Payments made to acquire tangible assets (12,595) (13,167)

Payments made to acquire intangible assets (1,604) (451)

(11,311) (11,107)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid 9 (1,456) (1,428)

New endowments 24 24 37 

New unsecured loans 22 – 15,000 

Repayments of amounts borrowed 22 (1,227) (1,178)

Capital element of finance lease and service concession payments 22 – (187)

(2,659) 12,244 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 14,163 20,196 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 72,393 52,197 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 86,556 72,393 

CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021
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1. Tuition fees and education contracts
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Home and EU students 95,471 95,471 86,489 86,489

International students 24,499 24,499 25,489 25,489

Other tuition 1,505 1,505 4,344 4,344

Research training support grant 1,071 1,071 827 827

122,546 122,546 117,149 117,149

2. Funding body grants
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Recurrent grant

Office for Students 16,112 16,112 14,474 14,474

Capital grant 1,680 1,680 1,512 1,512

Specific grants

Higher Education Innovation Fund 1,635 1,635 1,337 1,337

Other specific funding body grants 1,584 1,584 1,295 1,295

21,011 21,011 18,618 18,618

3. Research grants and contracts
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Research councils 5,026 5,026 4,103 4,103

Research charities 2,428 2,428 1,668 1,668

Government (UK) 3,491 3,491 1,593 1,593

European grants 6,847 6,847 6,794 6,794

Industry and commerce 1,132 1,132 1,700 1,700

Other research grants and contracts 1,731 1,731 719 719

Deferred grant income 487 487 511 511

21,142 21,142 17,088 17,088

4. Sources of funding
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

OfS 17,792 17,792 15,986 15,986 

Other bodies 12,807 12,807 9,155 9,155 

Research awards 12,625 12,625 11,392 11,392 

Non-qualifying 664 664 667 667 

Taught 120,810 120,810 115,655 115,655 

164,698 164,698 152,855 152,855 

5. Other income 
 Year ended 31 July 2021  Year ended 31 July 2020 

 Consolidated  University  Consolidated University 

 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

Residences, catering, conferences, nursery and sports & recreation 1,356 1,010 4,880 2,198 

Other revenue grant income and Erasmus Grant 897 897 2,012 2,012 

Rents, and hire of rooms and land 1,194 1,194 1,427 1,427 

Release of non OFS deferred capital grant 320 320 268 268 

Other income and services rendered 3,320 3,555 3,219 4,098 

7,087 6,976 11,806 10,003 

6. Investment income 
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment income on endowments 38 38 39 39

Investment income on restricted reserves 4 4 9 9

Other investment income 4 4 146 146

46 46 194 194

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021
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7. Donations and endowments 
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

New endowments 24 24 37 37

Donations with restrictions 639 639 303 303

663 663 340 340

8. Staff costs
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Salaries 72,827 72,352 73,466 72,788

Social security costs 8,270 8,218 7,349 7,269

Employer’s pension contributions 22,068 21,933 21,905 21,747

Other staff costs (1,503) (1,508) (785) (788)

101,662 100,995 101,935 101,016

USS pension provision movement (2,030) (2,030) (22,781) (22,781)

99,632 98,965 79,154 78,235

The average number of staff employed, expressed as full-time equivalents and analysed over activity, is as follows:
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Number Number

Academic 852 828

Technical 55 52

Administrative 484 474

Clerical, manual and other 389 408

1,780 1,762

Head of Provider to median employee pay multiple:
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Basic Salary 7.6 7.9

Total Salary 7.5 8.0

The median employee salary figure used to calculate the above ratio is based on the annual full time salary of all included on the University’s 
payrolls. This includes all individuals that the University includes in its HESA staff record, including any individual service companies who are 
deemed employees under IR35.

This excludes agency staff, individuals with honorary contracts where the contract is not deemed to be a contract of employment and 
self-employed individuals outside the scope of IR35. Agency staff are excluded as it is not possible with the current systems and processes 
in place to identify the equivalent annual salary at an individual level. Agency staff are used for a range of activities across the University, 
however, they are often not full-time, are charged for via third parties often on a consolidated basis and the rate charged includes a fee to the 
third party and VAT. Therefore, it is not possible to identify an accurate median salary for these individuals.

8. Staff costs (continued)
Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor Professor Alec Cameron:

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Basic Salary 304 304

Benefit Replacement Payment 47 47

351 351

The emoluments of the Vice Chancellor above exclude employer’s social security. The Vice Chancellor is not a member of the USS pension 
scheme and therefore there were no employer contributions in 2020/21 or 2019/20. The University made a benefit replacement payment in 
lieu of pension contributions to USS.   

The performance of the Vice Chancellor is monitored throughout the year including through 1:1 performance appraisal with the Chair of 
Council. In previous years Executive officers, including the Vice-Chancellor, have had access to an annual bonus based on a combination of 
overall University performance against key performance measures agreed by the Remuneration Committee at the outset of the performance 
cycle and performance against individual objectives agreed with the Chair of Council. The Nominations and Remuneration Committee 
discontinued the Executive Bonus Scheme from 2018/19.    

In setting the pay of the Vice-Chancellor the Remuneration Committee uses a variety of benchmark data sets to get a rounded picture of 
what fair and competitive base pay looks like for the role at Aston University. The primary comparison is carried out using several different 
data ‘cuts’ of the UCEA Senior Staff Remuneration Report which provide a well-rounded picture of where the incumbent sits relative to the 
wider Higher Education Sector. The conclusion of that comparison has determined that the base and total reward for the role at Aston is fairly 
positioned against the market.      

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee also commissioned an independent external review of senior remuneration which reported in 
September 2018. This included an analysis of the Vice-Chancellor’s reward using different metrics to help form a more-rounded picture of 
the appropriate level of pay when set against the University’s performance against a variety of measures. This review also used an analysis 
against the wider private and public sectors to provide a benchmark of levels of pay for senior roles found in these markets. This analysis 
similarly concluded that the remuneration of the Vice-Chancellor is fair, appropriate and justifiable.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021
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8. Staff costs (continued)
Basic remuneration of other Higher Paid Staff, excluding employer’s Social Security and pension contributions:

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Number Number

Basic salary per annum

£100,000 to £104,999 4 7

£105,000 to £109,999 5 3

£110,000 to £114,999 3 3

£115,000 to £119,999 2 3

£120,000 to £124,999 5 3

£130,000 to £134,999 1 1

£135,000 to £139,999 1 3

£140,000 to £144,999 1 2

£150,000 to £154,999 – 1

£155,000 to £159,999 3 –

£160,000 to £164,999 1 –

£165,000 to £169,999 1 1

£185,000 to £189,999 – 1

£270,000 to £274,999 1 1

£300,000 to £304,999 1 1

29 30

The following compensation for loss of office was paid during the year in accordance with the Institution’s remuneration committee 
policy:

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Compensation paid for loss of office 348 1,084

Number of individuals 37 62

Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
University. These have been defined as members of the University’s Executive. Staff costs includes compensation paid to key management 
personnel. 

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Key management compensation 2,675 2,976

2,675 2,976

9. Interest and other finance costs
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Loan interest 1,456 1,456 1,428 1,428

Net charge on pension schemes 384 384 995 995

1,840 1,840 2,423 2,423

10. Analysis of total expenditure by activity
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Academic and related expenditure 89,516 89,516 84,713 84,713

Administration and central services 33,783 33,783 35,063 35,063

Premises 16,806 16,806 16,737 16,737

Residences, catering and conferences 1,295 613 3,437 1,040

Research grants and contracts 14,698 14,698 13,242 13,242

Decrease in USS pension provision (2,030) (2,030) (22,781) (22,781)

Other expenses 8,958 9,545 9,057 9,154

163,026 162,931 139,468 137,168

Other expenses include:
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

External auditor’s remuneration: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Audit services 67 61 63 58

Non-audit services 6 6 5 5

Operating lease rentals 251 251 309 309

Maintenance of land and buildings 4,719 4,719 5,353 5,353

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021
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11. Access and participation
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000 

Access Investment 686 511

Financial Support 2,167 1,485

Disability Support (excl. costs in the two categories above) 251 250

Research and Evaluation 101 36

3,205 2,282

The published total of planned expenditure in the University’s Access and Participation Plan for the year ended 31 July 2021 was £974,391. 
The University has alerted the OfS that the Financial Support element of the plan is understated and should be £1,242,336 rather than the 
published £80,886. Therefore, ‘planned’ University expenditure was £2,135,841 for the year ended 31 July 2021. Details of the approved 
2020-2025 plan can be found at https://www.aston.ac.uk/sites/default/files/astonuniversity-app-2020-2025.pdf

Actual spend was £3,204,484 (£1,068,643 over target). Within this there was a small underspend against planned Access investment due 
vacancies and the impact of Covid-19 (online activities being significantly cheaper than ‘in person’ activities). Underspend was redirected to 
Financial support for students. The University did not set any targets for disability spend, so all spend is overspend. Research expenditure 
was in line with target.

12. Taxation
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Current tax

Current tax expense – – 15 15

Current tax expense – – 15 15

Deferred tax

Origination/reversal of timing differences (40) – – –

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses – – (115) –

Deferred tax credit (40) – (115) –

Total tax (credit)/expense (40) – (100) 15

13a. Fixed assets
Consolidated

 
 

Freehold land

 
Freehold 
Buildings

 
Plant & 

Machinery

Fixtures, 
Fittings & 

Equipment

Assets in the 
course of 

construction

 
 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation

As at 1 August 2020 51,185 140,595 33,043 34,456 8,191 267,470 

Additions – 1,325 2,626 427 5,597 9,975

Transfers – 5,197 1,607 1,937 (8,741) –

Disposals – (436) (2,575) (3,957)  – (6,968)

As at 31 July 2021 51,185 146,681 34,701 32,863 5,047 270,477

Depreciation

As at 1 August 2020  – 36,500 24,854 27,933  – 89,287 

Charge for the year – 6,864 2,181 2,645 – 11,690

Disposals – (436) (2,575) (3,957) – (6,968)

As at 31 July 2021  – 42,928 24,460 26,621  – 94,009

Net Book Value

As at 31 July 2021 51,185 103,753 10,241 6,242 5,047 176,468

As at 31 July 2020 51,185 104,095 8,189 6,523 8,191 178,183 

University

 
 

Freehold land

 
Freehold 
Buildings

 
Plant & 

Machinery

Fixtures, 
Fittings & 

Equipment

Assets in the 
course of 

construction

 
 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost or valuation

As at 1 August 2020 51,185 140,595 33,043 34,126 8,187 267,136 

Additions – 1,325 2,626 281 5,569 9,801

Transfers – 5,197 1,607 1,937 (8,741)  –

Disposals – (436) (2,575) (3,957)  – (6,968)

As at 31 July 2021 51,185 146,681 34,701 32,387 5,015 269,969

Depreciation

As at 1 August 2020  – 36,500 24,853 27,644  – 88,997 

Charge for the year – 6,864 2,181 2,619 – 11,664

Disposals – (436) (2,575) (3,957) – (6,968)

As at 31 July 2021   – 42,928 24,459 26,306  – 93,693

Net Book value

As at 31 July 2021 51,185 103,753 10,242 6,081 5,015 176,276

As at 31 July 2020 51,185 104,095 8,190 6,482 8,187 178,139 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
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13b. Intangible assets
Consolidated University

Software £’000 £’000

As at 1 August 2020 974 938 

Additions in the year 1,604 1,604

Amortisation charge for the year (466) (457)

Disposals (131) (131)

As at 31 July 2021 1,981 1,954

14. Heritage assets
Heritage assets with a fair value of greater than £10,000 have been capitalised in line with the accounting policies.

Consolidated and University

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Heritage Assets brought forward and carried forward 709 709

15. Fixed asset investments
Consolidated

 
Subsidiary 
companies

 
Investment in 

spinouts

Other fixed 
assets 

investments

 
 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 August 2020  – 52 71 123 

Revaluation  –  –  (11) (11)

As at 31 July 2021  – 52 60 112 

University

 
Subsidiary 
companies

 
Investment in 

spinouts

Other fixed 
assets 

investments

 
 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 August 2020  –  52 71 123

Revaluation  –  – (11) (11)

As at 31 July 2021  – 52 60 112

The non-current investments have been valued at market value where an appropriate open market is available. All other non-current 
investments have been valued at nominal value.

The University has interests in the following companies:
Other fixed asset investments consist of: Year ended 31 July 2021

Subsidiary Companies: £

Conference Aston Limited 1 

Optimus Energy Limited 1 

EBRI (UK) Limited 1 

Aston University Consulting Limited 1 

Aston Commercial Limited 1 

Aston Franchise Limited 1 

Beautiful Canoe Limited 1 

Investment in Spinout Companies:

Aston Eyetech Limited 895 

Aston Particle Technologies Limited 1 

Grid Edge Limited 50,470 

Other Fixed Asset Investments:

CVCP Properties Limited 31,539 

Tiziana Life Sciences Plc 7,466 

Mercia Technologies Plc 21,224 

Consolidated Total 111,595 

University Total 111,602 

The subsidiary company investments are University investments only. All other investments are Group and University investments.
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16. Stock
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

General consumables 18 18 30 30

 18 18 30 30

17. Trade and other receivables
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Amounts falling due within one year: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Research grants receivables 4,694 4,694 4,854 4,854

Trade receivables 5,187 5,094 3,191 3,095

Prepayments and accrued income 5,525 5,525 4,915 4,914

Amounts due from subsidiary companies – 338 8 1,037

Deferred tax asset 155 – 115 –

15,561 15,651 13,083 13,900

Amounts falling due after one year:

Loans due from subsidiary companies   – 2,000 – –

15,561 17,651 13,083 13,900

18. Investments
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Short term investment in unit trust 169 169 162 162

169 169 162 162

Aston University has an investment of £162k in Hermes Property Unit Trust. The investment can be redeemed annually on 26 March, 25 
June, 30 September and 26 December and therefore as the cash is not instantly accessible, it is deemed to be a short term investment.

19. Cash and cash equivalents
As at 1  

August 2020
 

Cash Flows
As at 31 July 

2021

Consolidated £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents 72,393 14,163 86,556

72,393 14,163 86,556

As at 1 
August 2020

 
Cash Flows

As at 31 July 
2021

University £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents 70,657 12,950 83,607

70,657 12,950 83,607

Aston University invests surplus cash funds through money market deposits with UK financial institutions and investments in the COIF 
Charities Investment Fund.

20. Consolidated reconciliation of net funds
Consolidated reconciliation of net funds £’000

As at 1 August 2020 28,074 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 14,163 

Repayment of secured loans 1,227 

Repayment of unsecured loans 4 

As at 31 July 2021 43,468 

Increase in net funds 15,394 

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Analysis of net funds: £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents 86,556 72,393 

Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year

Secured loans (1,266) (1,227)

Unsecured loans   – (4)

(1,266) (1,231)

Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year

Secured loans (26,822) (28,088)

Unsecured loans (15,000) (15,000)

(41,822) (43,088)

Net funds 43,468 28,074 
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21. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Secured loans 1,266 1,266 1,227 1,227 

Unsecured loans   – – 4 4 

Research grants and contracts in advance 9,380 9,380 9,084 9,084 

Accruals and deferred income 30,855 30,586 28,867 28,631 

Other taxation and social security 2,692 2,692 2,674 2,674 

Other creditors 9,684 9,623 7,996 7,924 

53,877 53,547 49,852 49,544 

Deferred Income
Included within creditors less than one year are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific performance related 
conditions have been met.

As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Research grants received on account 9,380 9,380 9,084 9,084 

Capital grant income 2,842 2,842 2,330 2,330 

Other income 16,751 16,747 14,028 14,024 

28,973 28,969 25,442 25,438 

22. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Deferred income 19,413 19,414 17,936 17,936 

Secured loans 26,822 26,822 28,088 28,088 

Unsecured loans 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 

61,235 61,236 61,024 61,024 

22. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)
As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

Analysis of secured and unsecured loans: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Due within one year or on demand (Note 21) 1,266 1,266 1,231 1,231 

Due between one and two years 1,310 1,310 1,266 1,266 

Due between two and five years 4,207 4,207 4,060 4,060 

Due in five years or more 36,305 36,305 37,762 37,762 

Due after more than one year 41,822 41,822 43,088 43,088 

Total secured and unsecured loans 43,088 43,088 44,319 44,319 

Secured loans repayable by 2037 28,088 28,088 29,315 29,315 

Unsecured loans 15,000 15,000 15,004 15,004 

43,088 43,088 44,319 44,319 

Lender Principal 
amount

Interest 
rate

 
Term 

 
Borrower

£’000 %

Barclays Bank 40,000 3.95 2037 University

HSBC 15,000 LIBOR plus 
1.45 2034 University

55,000 

The secured long-term loan comprises one loan with Barclays Bank. This loan is payable in quarterly instalments from 2008 to 2037 and is 
secured on a building of the University.

The University entered a £40 million unsecured credit facility with HSBC in July 2019. At the balance sheet date £15m of this facility had 
been drawn down. No repayments are due until 2024.
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23. Provisions for liabilities 
Consolidated

Obligation to 
fund deficit on 

USS pension

Obligation to 
fund deficit on 
AUPS pension

West Midlands 
Pension Fund 

provision1

 
 

Total pension 
provision

 
 

Other 
provisions2

 
 
 

Total other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 August 2020 28,495 12,834 34 41,363  –  – 

Utilised in year (1,193) (311) (8) (1,512)  –  – 

Additions 208  –  – 208 4,283 4,283 

Release for actuarial gains (837) (11,788)  – (12,625)  –  – 

As at 31 July 2021 26,673 735 26 27,434 4,283 4,283 

University

Obligation to 
fund deficit on 

USS pension

Obligation to 
fund deficit on 
AUPS pension

West Midlands 
Pension Fund 

provision1

 
 

Total pension 
provision

 
 

Other 
provisions2

 
 
 

Total other 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 1 August 2020 28,495 12,834 34 41,363  –  – 

Utilised in year (1,193) (311) (8) (1,512)  –  – 

Additions 208  –  – 208 4,283 4,283 

Release for actuarial gains (837) (11,788)  – (12,625)  –  – 

As at 31 July 2021 26,673 735 26 27,434 4,283 4,283

1 Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for pensioners retiring before 2012-13.
2  Other provisions relate to severance payments for Aston University employees who are ‘at risk’ on the balance sheet date and potential recovery of income 

where performance conditions have not been met. 

24. Endowment reserves
Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

Restricted 
permanent 

endowments

 
Expendable 

endowments

 
Year ended 31 July 2021 

Total

 
Year ended 31 July 2020 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 August

Capital 604 371 975 1,222 

Accumulated income 180 42 222 210 

784 413 1,197 1,432 

New endowments  – 24 24 37 

Investment income 30 8 38 39 

Expenditure – (166) (166) (311)

Increase in market value of investments 133 39 172  – 

Total endowment comprehensive income for 
the year 163 (95) 68 (235)

As at 31 July 947 318 1,265 1,197 

Represented by:

Capital 737 277 1,014 974 

Accumulated income 210 41 251 223 

947 318 1,265 1,197 

Analysis by type of purpose:

Academic chairs  – 61 61 176 

Scholarships and bursaries 775 109 884 750 

Prize funds 24 89 113 92 

General 148 59 207 179 

947 318 1,265 1,197 

Analysis by asset: 

Current and non-current asset investments 169 162 

Cash & cash equivalents 1,096 1,035 

1,265 1,197 

Deficit Balances
Aston University did not have any permanent endowments in deficit in either the 2020/21 or 2019/20 financial years.
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25. Restricted reserves

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Unspent 
capital grants

Restricted 
donations Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balances at 1 August – 1,408 1,408 2,429 

New grants 4,475 – 4,475 910 

New donations – 639 639 303 

Investment income – 4 4 9 

Capital grants utilised (4,475) – (4,475) (910)

Expenditure – (334) (334) (1,333)

Balances at 31 July – 1,717 1,717 1,408 

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Total Total

£’000 £’000

Analysis of Other Restricted Funds / Donations 
by Type:

Academic chairs 45 80 

Scholarships and bursaries 971 863 

Prize funds 27 26 

General 674 439 

Balances at 31 July 1,717 1,408 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
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26. Pension schemes

Accounting for retirement benefits
The three principal pension schemes for the University’s staff are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), Scottish Widows Pension 
Scheme (SWPS) and Aston University Pension Scheme (AUPS). AUPS is now a closed scheme to new entrants and future accrual and all 
existing members now have deferred benefits. 

AUPS is a defined benefit scheme which was externally funded and for the period up to 5 April 2016 was contracted out of the State Second 
Pension (S2P). From 6 April 2016, contracting out ceased with the introduction of the Government’s new state pension. The fund is valued 
every three years by professionally qualified independent actuaries. The last formal valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 
2019.

USS is a hybrid pension scheme, providing defined benefits (for all members), as well as defined contribution benefits. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the assets are not attributed to 
individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The institution is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with 
other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. As required by Section 28 of FRS 102 “Employee benefits”, the institution therefore accounts for the scheme as if it were 
a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the profit and loss account represents the contributions payable to the 
scheme. Since the institution has entered into an agreement (the Recovery Plan) that determines how each employer within the scheme will 
fund the overall deficit, the institution recognises a liability for the contributions payable that arise from the agreement (to the extent that they 
relate to the deficit) with related expenses being recognised through the profit and loss account.

SWPS is a defined contribution plan, a post-employment benefit plan under which the University pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the year during which services are rendered by employees.

Employment Benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
employees render service to the University. Any unused benefits, such as holiday entitlements earned but not taken at the balance sheet 
date, are accrued and measured as the additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

Significant Judgements and Estimates
Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements and estimates. The items in the financial 
statements where these judgements and estimates have been made include:

Aston University Pension Scheme (AUPS)
The University obtains a valuation from Hymans Robertson LLP who make decisions on behalf of the University on the financial assumptions 
used to calculate the net liability of the scheme. These assumptions include the RPI%, CPI%, salary increases, pension increases, mortality 
rates, discount rate and the estimate of the duration of employer liabilities.

The University allows Hymans Robertson LLP to apply their skill and judgement in setting these parameters as the pension experts rather 
than suggesting a rate.

Any changes in actuarial assumptions or differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and the full actuarial 
valuation will impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
FRS 102 makes the distinction between a group plan and a multi-employer scheme. A group plan consists of a collection of entities under 
common control typically with a sponsoring employer. A multi-employer scheme is a scheme for entities not under common control and 
represents (typically) an industry-wide scheme such as Universities Superannuation Scheme. The accounting for a multi-employer scheme 
where the employer has entered into an agreement with the scheme that determines how the employer will fund a deficit results in the 
recognition of a liability for the contributions payable that arise from the agreement (to the extent that they relate to the deficit) and the 
resulting expense in profit or loss in accordance with section 28 of FRS 102. The directors are satisfied that USS meets the definition of a 
multi-employer scheme and has therefore recognised the discounted fair value of the contractual contributions under the recovery plan in 
existence at the date of approving the financial statements.

The USS modeller used for calculation of the pension deficit required in the financial statements has used assumptions on staff salary 
inflation percentages and the percentage change in staff numbers in subsequent years. In making the estimated percentages, management 
considered past movement in salary inflation and staff numbers as well as considering the University’s strategic plans, current economic 
climate and consistency with AUPS assumptions.

Aston University has also chosen to apply the discount rate provided by Mercer Limited actuaries in the USS modeller. Mercer Limited have 
used a set of assumptions to arrive at the discount rate with Aston University accepting the set of assumptions as reasonable.
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26. Pension schemes (continued)
USS provides benefits for academic and academic-related employees of all UK universities and other employees. SWPS/AUPS provides 
benefits for other staff of the University. USS and AUPS are defined benefit schemes which are externally funded, the assets of which are 
held in separately administered funds. The deficit in the schemes is required to be reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the 
movements in the deficit to be reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

SWPS is a defined contribution plan, a post-employment benefit plan under which the University pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the year during which services are rendered by employees.

The total pension cost for the Consolidated Group was:
Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Contributions to USS (excluding provision movement) 19,187 18,518

Contributions to AUPS 930 1,823

Contributions to SWPS 1,437 1,473 

Nest and other pension contributions 112 91

Total contributions 21,666 21,905

These amounts include contributions due but not paid at the year-end as follows:

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Contributions due to USS 1,579 15

Contributions due to AUPS – –

Contributions due to SWPS 118 2 

Contributions due to Nest and other pensions 7 8

Total contributions 1,704 25

USS
The latest available complete actuarial valuation of the Retirement Income Builder is at 31 March 2018 (the valuation date), which was carried 
out using the projected unit method. A valuation as at 31 March 2020 is underway but not yet complete.

Since the institution cannot identify its share of USS Retirement Income Builder (defined benefit) assets and liabilities, the following 
disclosures reflect those relevant for those assets and liabilities as a whole.

The 2018 valuation was the fifth valuation for the scheme under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, 
which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical 
provisions. At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £63.7 billion and the value of the s scheme’s technical provisions 
was £67.3 billion indicating a shortfall of £3.6 billion and a funding ratio of 95%.

The key financial assumptions used in the 2018 valuation are described below:

Pension increases (CPI)  Term dependent rates in line with the difference between the Fixed Interest and Index Linked 
yield curves, less 1.3% p.a. 

Discount rate (forward rates)  Years 1-10: CPI +0.14% reducing linearly to CPI – 0.73%  
Years 11-20: CPI + 2.52% reducing linearly to CPI + 1.55% by year 21  
Years 21 +: CPI + 1.55% 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

26. Pension schemes (continued)
The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. These assumptions are based on analysis of the scheme’s 
experience carried out as part of the 2018 actuarial valuation. The mortality assumptions used in these figures are as follows:

 2018 valuation
Mortality base table   Pre-retirement:  

71% of AMC00 (duration 0) for males and 112% of AFC00 (duration 0) for females
 Post retirement: 
 97.6% of SAPS S1NMA “light” for males and 102.7% of RFV00 for females 

Future improvements to mortality  CMI_2017 with a smoothing parameter of 8.5 and a long term improvement rate of 1.8% pa 
for males and 1.6% pa for females

The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:

  2020-21 2019-20
Males currently aged 65 (years)   24.6 24.4
Females currently aged 65 (years)   26.1 25.9
Males currently aged 45 (years)   26.6 26.3
Females currently aged 45 (years)   27.9 27.7

A new deficit recovery plan was put in place as part of the 2018 valuation, which requires payment of 2% of salaries over the period 1 
October 2019 to 30 September 2021 at which point the rate will increase to 6%. The 2020 deficit recovery liability reflects this plan. The 
provision figures have been produced using the following assumptions:

  2020-21 2019-20
Discount rate  0.87% 0.73%
Pensionable salary growth  2.35% 2.35%
Staff base growth  1.50% 1.50%

AUPS
The assets of the Scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme which is funded 
and valued every three years by the actuary using the projected unit method, the rates of contribution payable being determined by the 
trustees on the advice of the actuary. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2019 by a qualified independent actuary (Hymans 
Robertson LLP). The material assumptions and other data used by the actuary were: 

  2020-21 2019-20
Salary scale increases per annum   2.95% 2.35%
Pension increases per annum (post 1.9.90 joiners)  3.10% 2.85%
Pension increases per annum (pre 1.9.90 joiners) 3.65% 3.50%
Discount rate   1.60% 1.40%
Consumer Price Inflation  2.55% 2.00%
Retail Price Inflation  3.20% 2.90%

The assumptions used by the actuary are best estimates chosen from a range of actuarial assumptions which are acceptable under the 
requirements of FRS102.

The FRS102 valuation has used RPI as the inflationary index to calculate scheme liabilities for current members and used CPI in respect of 
deferred members.

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in the mortality rates, adopting the CMI 2020 
projections with a 1.25% pa long term trend. The assumed life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:

  2020-21 2019-20
Retiring today 
Males   20.8 20.7
Females  23.7 23.6

Retiring in 20 years
Males  22.2 22.2
Females  25.7 25.6
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26. Pension schemes (continued)
Scheme assets and assumptions on investment returns:

Fund Value Fund Value

31 July 2021 31 July 2020

£’000 £’000

Equity securities 45,854 59,222

Debt securities – corporate 16,125 16,147

Debt securities – government – 26,885

Liability driven investments 54,884 –

Cash and cash equivalents 651 1,393

Real estate 7,724 7,760

125,238 111,407

The following amounts at 31 July were measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 102.

Analysis of the Amount Shown in the Balance Sheet:

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Total value of assets 125,238 111,407

Actuarial value of liabilities (125,973) (124,241)

Loss over funded scheme assets (735) (12,834)

Analysis of the Amount Charged to Staff Costs Within the Operating Surplus:

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Current service cost – –

Administration cost 417 689

Past service cost 26 –

Total operating charge 443 689

Analysis of the Amount that is Credited to Other Finance Income / (Charged to Interest Payable):

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Interest income on scheme assets 1,543 2,283

Interest payable on scheme liabilities (1,719) (2,480)

Net interest on Net Defined Benefit Liability (176) (197)

Total amount charged to Profit 619 886

26. Pension schemes (continued)
Analysis of the Amount Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI):

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Actual return on assets excl. amount included in net assets 14,825 527

Actuarial losses on scheme obligations (3,037) (5,022)

Re-measurement gain/(loss) in scheme 11,788 (4,495)

Decrease in irrecoverable surplus – –

Re-measurement gain/(loss) in OCI 11,788 (4,495)

Analysis of the Movement in the Fair Value of the Scheme Liabilities:

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 124,241 119,572

Current Service Cost – –

Administration Cost 417 689

Interest Cost 1,719 2,480

Past Service Cost 26 –

Contributions by Scheme Participants – –

Actuarial Losses 3,037 5,022

Benefits Paid (3,467) (3,522)

Closing Defined Benefit Obligation 125,973 124,241

Analysis of the Movement in the Fair Value of the Scheme Assets:

2020-21 2019-20

£’000 £’000

Opening Fair Value of Scheme Assets 111,407 109,899

Interest Income 1,543 2,283

Contributions by Aston University 930 2,220

Contributions by Scheme Participants – –

Actual Return on Assets excl. amount inlcuded in net interest 14,825 527

Benefits Paid (3,467) (3,522)

Closing Fair Value of Scheme Assets 125,238 111,407

NEST
From 1 August 2013, the University has been required to automatically enrol its workers into a workplace pension scheme if they meet 
certain qualifying criteria, and are not members of any other scheme. Auto-enrolment does not replace the existing arrangements for 
contractual enrolment into AUPS/USS for regular employees. However auto-enrolment does apply to regular employees that have opted 
out of AUPS or USS, or who may opt out in the future, USS pensioners and casual workers. The University has chosen to offer NEST (the 
National Employment Savings Trust) as its workplace pension scheme for its casual workers.
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27. Capital, other commitments and contingent liabilities
Provision has not been made for the following capital commitments at 31 July 2021:

As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commitments contracted for 6,258 6,212 6,292 6,222 

6,258 6,212 6,292 6,222 

Contingent liabilities at 31 July 2021:

As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Consolidated University Consolidated University

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Highways Act 1980 Bond 31 31 31 31 

31 31 31 31 

The University has a Section 278 Highways Act 1980 bond with Birmingham City Council for £31,282. This bond relates to the carrying out of 
works to Aston Street, Birmingham. In the event that the University fail to meet the terms of the Section 278 agreement the bond will be paid 
to Birmingham City Council.

The University has given written undertakings to support the subsidiary companies for twelve months from the date of approval of these 
financial statements.

28. Lease obligations
Total rentals payable under operating leases:

As at 31 July 2021 As at 31 July 2020

Other leases Total Other leases Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Future minimum lease payments due:

Less than 1 year 202 202 246 246 

Between 1 year and 5 years 523 523 317 317 

Later than 5 years – –  –  – 

Total lease payments due 725 725 563 563 

29. Subsidiary undertakings
The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the University, are as 
follows:

Company Principal Activity Status Note
Conference Aston Limited Management of conference and hotel activities 100% owned 15 
Beautiful Canoe Limited Provision of consultancy, workshops and student placements 100% owned 15 
Optimus Energy Limited Dormant 100% owned 15 
EBRI (UK) Limited Dormant 100% owned 15 
Aston University Consulting Limited Dormant 100% owned 15 
Aston Commercial Limited Dormant 100% owned 15 
Aston Franchise Limited Dormant 100% owned 15 

30. Financial instruments

Risk management
The University operates a centralised treasury management function which is responsible for managing the credit, liquidity, interest and 
foreign currency risk.These financial risks are managed within the parameters specified by the Finance Committee approved Treasury 
Management Policy.The treasury management policy adopts the key recommendations of the Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
Public Service as issued by Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as recommended by the Office for Students and 
is reviewed and updated annually.

The University’s principal financial instruments are cash, investments and loans. The core objective of these financial instruments is to meet 
the financing needs of the University’s operations. Additionally, the University has other financial assets and liabilities arising directly from its 
operations i.e. trade debtors and creditors.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the University.

The University’s credit risk arises from bank balances, investments, student debtors and commercial organisations as customers. 
Management of credit risk is a prime objective of the Treasury Management Policy. At 31 July 2021, the maximum exposure is represented 
by the carrying value of each financial asset in the balance sheet.

The credit risk of liquid funds and financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with investment grade credit ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The University’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are monitored regularly. 
The credit exposure is limited by counterparty limits and minimum counter party credit ratings set within the Treasury Management Policy.

Student and commercial debtors are reviewed on an-ongoing basis and a bad debt provision is made if recovery becomes uncertain. If a 
debtor is deemed irrecoverable it is written off. The concentration of risk is limited due to a large number of diverse customers across both 
students and commercial customer populations.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Regular monitoring of 
liquidity risk is an essential feature of treasury management activities.

Cash flow forecasts form part of the University’s 5 year strategic model and are revised during the financial year. The University policy is 
to maintain a minimum of £10m in on-call cash balances.Excess funds are invested to maximise the return whilst observing the Treasury 
Management Policy limits.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that unfavourable movement in exchange rates may cause financial loss to the University. The 
University’s principal foreign currency exposure is to the euro. On an annual basis after satisfying euro denominated liabilities the University 
is left with a surplus of Euros. Surplus euros are converted at spot rates or via forward contracts that are used to mitigate the risk of adverse 
exchange rate movements.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the likelihood that changes in interest rates will result in fluctuations of the value of balance sheet items (i.e. price 
risk) or changes in interest income or expenses (i.e. re-investments risk).

Financial instruments – fair values
The fair values of each category of the University’s financial instruments are the same as their carrying value in the balance sheet.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021
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31. Related party transactions
The University’s Council members are the trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s operations and 
the composition of the University Council (with members drawn from local, public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that 
transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of Council may have an interest.

All transactions involving organisations in which a member of Council may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted 
at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s Financial Regulations and normal procurement procedures.

Related parties were identified by examining returns submitted by members of Council and senior management team members for the 
financial year 2020/21.

These financial statements include the following transactions with related parties. No information has been listed for organisations where the 
income and expenditure is less than £1,000 in the financial year.

2020/21
Income 

Transactions
Expenditure 

Transactions
Creditor 

Balance due
Debtor 

Balance due

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

AdvanceHE – 9 6 –

Akatemia UK – 3 – –

Aston University Engineering Academy 20 – – 20 

Aston University Pension Scheme – 360 – –

Aston University Students’ Union 59 1,589 – –

Coventry University – 1 – –

Greater Birmingham & Solihull Institute of Technology – 145 – – 

Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership Limited 23 10  – 2

Innovation Birmingham Advisory Board – 48  –  – 

Membership Solutions Ltd – 11 – –

Universities West Midlands – 36 – –

University Vocational Awards Council – 4 – –

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

2019/20
Income 

Transactions
Expenditure 

Transactions
Creditor 

Balance due
Debtor 

Balance due

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Aston Students' Union 82 1,589 25 1

Aston University Engineering Academy Birmingham 20 – – –

Aston University Pension Scheme – 360 – 12

Universities West Midlands – 69 – –

University of Leeds – 1 – –

Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust 94 – – –

Innovation Birmingham Limited – 53 3 – 

Advance HE – 36 – –

Membership Solutions Ltd – 10  –  – 

Greater Birmingham Chamber of Commerce 87 – –  –

Coventry University – 2  –  –

GBSLEP – 7 –  –

Expenses are paid to or on behalf of Council members for travel and subsistence incurred in attending meetings and events in their official 
capacity. This is immaterial to the financial statements for the years ending 31 July 2021 and 2020.

32. Post balance sheet events
USS

The USS 2020 valuation has now been signed and filed with The Pensions Regulator with an effective date of 1 October 2021. The resulting 
schedule of contributions will see a small increase in contribution rates from the 2018 Valuation and a longer deficit recovery period as a 
result of the decision to proceed with benefit change by the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) subject to member consultation. The impact 
on the USS liability is an increase from £26,673,000 to £80,655,000.
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APPENDICES APPENDICES (continued)

Page 3  
Mission, Vision, Values
The Guardian University of the Year 2020.  
https://www.theguardian.com/education/2020/nov/25/aston-university-named-guardians-university-of-the-year

Outstanding Entrepreneurial University, Times Higher Education Awards 2020.  
https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/times-higher-education-awards-2020-winners-announced

Page 4-5  
Responding to Covid
Over 500 alumni and friends donated to Aston University during the Covid year.
Information extracted from Excel spreadsheet : Alumni Gift Participation Report 2019-20 ID only. For data protection purposes names are 
removed and have left in the reference IDs from our database. The donor total is top-right on the summary tab. File can be provided.

Safe zone app.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/undergraduate/campus/safety/safezone

Mobilising Research Excellence in the Midlands to Tackle COVID-19, published by Midlands Innovation. A report showcasing the dedicated 
work of academics, healthcare professionals and industrial partners from across the Midlands. Case studies shown on pages 28, 20 and 23.
https://midlandsinnovation.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/Resources/Midlands_Covid-19_Report.pdf

Student Emergency Hardship Fund.
https://go.aston.ac.uk/p/coronavirus/updates/

Computers for Children – tackling tech poverty in Birmingham.
https://www.titan.org.uk/computersforchildren/

Food parcels, meals and telephone support, #Brumtogether.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/students-union-opens-doors-food-distribution-centre-providing-vital-service-communities

Page 8  
The year in numbers
Top 25 in the Guardian University Guide (2022). 
https://www.theguardian.com/education/ng-interactive/2020/sep/05/the-best-uk-universities-2021-league-table

Over 1,000 degree apprentices studying with us, based at organisations across the UK (sourced from Aston University student records 
system).

Ranked 21st in the UK for Career Prospect Outcomes (Complete University Guide, 2022).  
https://www.thecompleteuniversityguide.co.uk/league-tables/rankings?tabletype=full-table&sortby=graduate-prospects-outcomes 

Over 74% of our students undertake a placement year or equivalent experience (2019/20).
- Aston University Annual Placement Report for Annual Monitoring 2020.

Partner with over 300 employers who offer degree apprenticeships. 
(Sourced from Aston University student records system)

Over 130 student-led clubs and societies.
https://www.astonsu.com/union/student-activities/clubs-and-societies/

2nd in England for impact on social mobility in HEPI Social Mobility Index (2021).
https://www.hepi.ac.uk/2021/03/04/an-english-social-mobility-index-new-report-proposes-a-ranking-of-universities-impact-on-social-
mobility

Ranked top 25 in the UK for ‘Value Added’ to degree in the Guardian University Guide (2022).  
https://www.theguardian.com/education/ng-interactive/2021/sep/11/the-best-uk-universities-2022-rankings

Aston University graduates achieved the 20th largest median salary in the UK five years after graduation  
(Longitudinal Education Outcomes, 2021). 
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/graduate-outcomes-leo-provider-level-data 

More than 90% Degree Completion rate in the Times/Sunday Times Good University Guide (2022). 
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/good-university-guide-in-full-tp6dzs7wn

18,272 students (13,328 undergraduate and 4,944 postgraduate). 
Data from Student Population Tableau Dashboard located on My Aston Portal (MAP). The data in this dashboard is extracted from our 
Student Record System SITS.

Student/staff ratio improved by a 61-place improvement over the last three years in the Complete University Guide (2022). 
https://www.thecompleteuniversityguide.co.uk/league-tables/rankings?tabletype=full-table&sortby=student-staff-ratio 

Page 9 
Award winning University 
The Guardian University of the Year 2020.  
https://www.theguardian.com/education/2020/nov/25/aston-university-named-guardians-university-of-the-year

Outstanding Entrepreneurial University, Times Higher Education Awards 2020.  
https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/times-higher-education-awards-2020-winners-announced

Students’ Union – Winner of Buildings That Inspire (The Guardian, 2020).  
https://www.theguardian.com/education/2020/nov/25/buildings-that-inspire-award-winner-and-runners-up

Top Ten Students’ Union (What Uni Awards, 2020).
https://www.whatuni.com/student-awards-winners/student-union/

World Top 100 for Business & Management in the QS World Subject Rankings (2021). 
https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/university-subject-rankings/2021/business-management-studies

Athena Swan Silver Award 2021.
https://www.advance-he.ac.uk/equality-charters/athena-swan-charter/participants-and-award-holders#Institutional-Awards

Page 10-13   
Academic highlights 

College of Business and Social Sciences
Small businesses hit by the pandemic to access support through government partnership with Aston Business School.  
Published August 2020.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/small-businesses-hit-pandemic-access-support-through-government-partnership-aston 

Support for entrepreneurs critical for post-Covid recovery - new GEM report. Published 16/09/2020.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/support-entrepreneurs-critical-post-covid-recovery-new-gem-report

How pub-talk research is helping abuse victims tell their stories. Published 13/01/2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/how-pub-talk-research-helping-abuse-victims-tell-their-stories

Aston University welcomes arrival of Goldman Sachs to Birmingham. Published 15/04/2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-welcomes-arrival-goldman-sachs-birmingham

Aston University a key partner of EU-funded projects awarded €7 million to fight organised crime online payment fraud. Published May 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-key-partner-eu-funded-projects-awarded-eu7-million-fight-organised 

Irish eyes smiling as Brexit sees services trade switch from UK - new research. Published 01/06/2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/uk-goods-exports-slump-ps54bn-covid-trade-rout 

College of Engineering and Physical Sciences
Opportunities for STEM talent was promoted in a virtual event on the International Day of Women and Girls in Science.  
Published February 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/opportunities-stem-talent-promoted-virtual-event-international-day-women-and-girls 

Construction underway on new Institute of Technology hub. Published June 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/construction-underway-new-institute-technology-hub 

Aston University has undergone a £1.7 million refurbishment of its laboratory facilities as part of an extensive campus redevelopment 
strategy. Published March 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/major-refurbishment-laboratories-improve-experience-engineering-and-physical-sciences
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Aston University becomes Midlands Academy for F1 in Schools programme. Published June 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-becomes-midlands-academy-f1-schools-programme

Aston University awarded funding for cybersecurity adoption project. Published 1/4/2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-awarded-funding-cybersecurity-adoption-project

Aston University team of bioenergy researchers set to launch free tool to calculate energy potential. Published 28/06/2021.
bit.ly/2U50xGE

College of Health and Life Sciences 
Stem cell AI – ‘brain on a chip’ project aims to revolutionise computing power. Published January 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/stem-cell-ai-brain-chip-project-aims-revolutionise-computing-power 

Aston University partners with John Desmond Ltd to develop antimicrobial surfaces to prevent spread of infection. Published June 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-partners-john-desmond-ltd-develop-antimicrobial-surfaces-prevent 

Pathway programme to help disadvantaged young people study medicine highly commended in 2020 Green Gown Awards.  
Published March 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/pathway-programme-help-disadvantaged-young-people-study-medicine-highly-commended-2020 

Over 2850 people supported by eye health education and vision screening delivered by Villa Vision. Published July 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/over-2850-people-supported-eye-health-education-and-vision-screening-delivered-villa 

Aston researchers lead the way in creating VR training for university students. Published November 2020.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-researchers-lead-way-creating-vr-training-university-students

Clinical trials to combat short sightedness in children underway at Aston University. Published September 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/clinical-trials-combat-short-sightedness-children-underway-aston-university

Page 14-15  
Recruitment diversification
Aston University launches new international pathway centre. Published November 2020.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-launches-new-international-pathway-centre 

Over 1,000 degree apprentices studying with us, based at organisations across the UK (sourced from Aston University student records 
system).

Aston University graduates achieved the 20th largest median salary in the UK five years after graduation  
(Longitudinal Education Outcomes, 2021). 
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/graduate-outcomes-leo-provider-level-data

Page 16  
Employable graduates
Graduates of Aston University are among the highest paid in the country five years after graduating. 
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/graduate-outcomes-leo/2018-19

Winners of Best University Careers/Employability Service (National Undergraduate Employability Awards 2020). 
https://nueawards.co.uk/

83% for positive destinations against sector average of 78% (Guardian University Guide, 2022).
https://www.theguardian.com/education/ng-interactive/2021/sep/11/the-best-uk-universities-2022-rankings

Aston University rated 2nd in England for significant contribution made to social mobility for its students. (HEPI Social Mobility Index, 2021).
https://www.hepi.ac.uk/2021/03/04/an-english-social-mobility-index-new-report-proposes-a-ranking-of-universities-impact-on-social-
mobility/

Narce Media founders, Connor Watt and Joe Housley. Entrepreneurial Profiles | Aston University.  
www.narcemedia.com

APPENDICES (continued) APPENDICES (continued)

Page 17  
Alumni networks
Alumni | Aston University.

Page 18-19  
A growing research profile
REF.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/research-excellence-framework-ref-panel-membership-appointments-announced

Knowledge Exchange Framework.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/research/knowledge-exchange 

Knowledge Transfer Partnerships (KTPs).
(Data from KTP final reports to Innovate UK 2020 analysis)

KTP award.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-wins-award-knowledge-transfer-partnership-most-effective-initiative 

Page 20-21  
Engagement performance
https://www.aston.ac.uk/business

Commonwealth Games.
https://www.birmingham2022.com/about-us/partnerships/

Aston University signs up to civic university agreement to strengthen role in local community, March 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-signs-civic-university-agreement-strengthen-role-local-community

Aston University pledges funding support for SME apprenticeships, June 2021.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-pledges-funding-support-sme-apprenticeships

Villa Vision.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/latest-news/aston-university-and-aston-villa-announce-launch-villa-vision

Help to Grow scheme.
https://www.aston.ac.uk/research/bss/abs/centres-hubs/aston-centre-for-growth/help-to-grow-management#:~:text=long%2Dterm%20
growth.Co,THE%20PROGRAMME,facilitated%20online%202%2Dhour%20sessions
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